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2003 Board of Directors [from left to right, front to back): Wayne W. Broadwater, Alice M. Starr,
George P. Shafran, Michael A. Garcia, Emad E. Saadeh, John H. Rust, Jr., J. Hamilton Lambert,
Buddy G. Beck, Bernard H. Clineburg, James D. Russo, William G. Buck, William E. "Rick” Peterson,
Sidney O. Dewberry and John W. Fisher
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In 2003, Cardinal Financial Corporation
achieved substantial progress. We reported
our first full year of profitability, relocated our
headquarters to Tysons Corner, opened three
new banking offices and raised over $48 million
in new capital to fuel our continued growth.
We ended the year with assets of $636 million,
establishing Cardinal as one of Northern
Virginia's leading community banks.

For the year, your Company reported net
income before taxes of $2.6 million compared
to a loss of $529,000 during the prior year.
In addition, we reported a $3.5 million tax
benefit from losses reported prior to 2003.
This effectively marks the completion of the
turnaround begun in late 2001 and sets the
stage for further growth and sustained
profitability.

During December, we initiated a secondary
stock offering co-managed by Raymond James
& Associates, Inc., and Legg Mason Wood
Walker, Incorporated, to issue 7,245,000
new shares of common stock to raise over
$48 million in new capital. This was
completed in early January, 2004. Our stock
price rose 90% during 2003, closing at $8.27
on December 31, 2003. The total market value
of our common stock ended the year at
$135.4 million.

2003 Beard of Direciors




A great deal of our success in 2003 was due to strong loan
growth. Total loans increased by nearly 35% in 2003 to end the
year at $336 million, with growth accelerating in the last half
of the year across all product lines. We enter 2004 with a legal
lending limit of over $12 million and are excited about
expanding our ability to better serve our current customers and
the growing businesses in the thriving Northern Virginia and
Greater Washington, DC markets.

Maintaining loan quality has been and will remain a very high
priority. Net loan losses for the entire year were $29,000. Since
the bank was formed in 1998, net losses have totaled only
$129,000. Non-performing loans were .12% of total loans at
the end of 2003, compared to .39% at the end of 2002. Our

experienced lenders share a strong credit culture and are

creative and flexible to meet the needs of our customers.

and their families in Northern Virginia. A core value of Cardinal
is giving back and our officers and employees will always
maintain active roles with numerous community organizations.

The strength of the local economy, combined with the
continuing consolidation of local banks, has created an exciting
opportunity for Cardinal. Four new local bank mergers were
completed or announced during 2004. Since 1997, nearly $70
billion in bank assets and over 1,500 branch sites have been
transferred to banks headquartered outside of the Washington
region. After only five full years of operation, Cardinal has
become the third largest publicly-traded bank headquartered

in Northern Virginia.

Our Board of Directors is unified with a strong sense of
purpose and committed to delivering the value that is expected

In September, we opened a banking office in our new
headquarters location in the heart of Tysons Corner.
We then opened our second Loudoun County office in Leesburg
and another Prince William County office in Woodbridge,
in December. In February 2004, we opened our 12th
office, in Herndon, just west of the Reston Town Center.
Cardinal’s signature will always include convenient locations
followed by unparalleled personal service and innovative

product offerings.

We recognize that our continued success is directly linked to
the strength of our community, and we actively support civic
and charitable organizations. We were especially proud to sponsor
the inaugural Cardinal Bank Charity Golf Classic in 2003, raising
over $100,000 to benefit the Inova Kellar Center, a not-for-
profit outpatient treatment center serving children, adolescents

by all. We added three new directors to our Board during -
2003: Mike Garcia, President and Owner of Mike Garcia
Construction, Inc., in Manassas; Rick Peterson, Chief Operating
Officer of The Peterson Companies; and Alice Starr, Vice
President of Marketing and Public Relations of WEST*GROUP.
These new directors bring a wealth of business experience
and local market knowledge to our Board, and we look forward

to their contributions.

On a sad note, Director Hal Lieding passed away in November.
Hal was former Chairman of the Board of Heritage Bancorp,
which was acquired by Cardinal in 2000, and continued to
serve on the Board of Cardinal for the past three years.
We will miss the leadership he brought to our Board and are
grateful for his guidance through the years.



g 66 We enter 2004 with a legal lending limit of over $12 million. 99

We are proud of our accomplishments in 2003 and remain excited about the
prospects for continued growth in the years ahead. We are committed to delivering
innovative products and services through technology, conveniently located banking
offices, and the best employees in the financial services industry. We are confident
that we will fulfill our mission of becoming the bank of choice in the
Northern Virginia and the Greater Washington markets we serve.

In conclusion, we will never forget the enormous trust our shareholders have placed
with us. We are striving to exceed expectations as we build your company.
We understand and willingly accept responsibility to provide maximum return to
our sharcholders, customers, employees and the communities we serve. Our goal

everyday is to make this corporation more valuable than the day before.

Sincerely,

KM/%W

Bernard H. Clineburg
Chairman, President &~ Chief Executive Officer

] O1 N T H E EXCITEMENT!




COMMERCIAL LENDING

With a recent infusion of over $48 million in capital
and a $12 million lending limit, Cardinal Bank is
equipped to handle credit needs well beyond the
capabilities of most mid-sized, local banks. In many
cases, these expanded capabilities parallel the growth
of Cardinal’s own customers, who began with a small
loan and now continue to rely on Cardinal as bigger

projects arise and loan needs increase.

. In addition to. increased lending capabilities; the key
to achieving significant growth within Cardinal’s
Commercial Lending Division is, and will always be,
the quality and expertise of the lending team.
Combined, these professionals offer more than 300
years of banking and lending experience, with a deep

and thorough understanding of the region’s economy.
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55 Cardinal has taken the time to understand
our particular business. ..giving us the
freedom fo concentrate on patients,

practice and the concerns of pet owners...”*

Dr. Donald Powell, Pender Veterinary Centre, Fairfax

Befow: Dr. Donald Powell (far left}
and Dr. Mark Johnson {far right) of Pender

Veterinary Centre inspect the construction of

their Cardinalfinanced expansion with Bank
Officer and Real Estate Lending Speciafist
Oretha Rogers and President Kevin Reynolds.




COMMERCIAL LENDING

Unlike larger institutions headquartered outside the
region, Cardinal’s experienced lenders have firsthand
knowledge of the marketplace, enabling them to offer
innovative solutions and make decisions quickly. The
powerful combination of experience, local familiarity,
increased lending parameters and the ability to act quickly
offers businesses the best of all worlds. With cutting-
edge technology, quality people on the front lines and
behind the scenes, and the creativity to develop and
offer the products and services customers truly need,
Cardinal Bank is becoming the premier local bank for

business and commerce in Northern Virginia.

Center: Dr Jennifer Gorrelick confers with a patient. Below: Cathie Johnson,
manager of Cardinal’s Arington office visits Dr. Heydin Kong, Dr. Jennifer
Gorrelick, Dr. Sumi Makkar Sexton and their Office Manager James Jones

at Premier Primary Care Physicians’ new Arlington office {Missing from photo
is Dr. Julia Stanford.) Far Right: President Chris Bergstrom (center) joins
Co-Owners Tom Lensis {lefi) and Mike Hoover (right) in TML Copiers & Digital

Solutions’ show room in Manassas.

TR
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Cardlinel fruly offers
the persene] foudh @t
Adingfion offies or phone.

the we need. 7

Jones,
Premier Primery Care Physicions, Arfnghen

4‘3"

With guidance from their accountant, Drs. Jennifer Gorrelick,
Hey-Jin Kong, Sumi Makkar Sexton and Julia Stanford of
Premier Primary Care Physicians selected Cardinal Bank as their
financial partner for their new practice. Because of Cardinal’s
experience working with other medical and professional practices,
it was a perfect fit. “We didn't want the inattentions of a big,
national bank, but preferred a bank with a personality like our
own: local, enthusiastic, growing and focused on who we serve
and what we need on an individual and specific basis,”
commented Dr. Gorrelick.
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REAL ESTATE LENDING

Cardinal’s Real Estate Lending group provides land
acquisition, development and construction loans as
well as commercial mortgages to builders, developers
and real estate investors throughout the Washington
DC Metropolitan area. In 2003, real estate lending
grew dramatically over 2002 as a result of Cardinal’s
targeted focus on the real estate community. Cardinal’s
seasoned lending team offers its clients market
insights and timely solutions on a wide array of real

estate matters.

Building on this industry excellence, the outlook for
2004 is bright. By utilizing the increased lending limits
now available to Cardinal, the bank is better able to
accommodate the needs of larger customers and reach
a new tier of real estate clients, as well. But whether
financing a large-scale, mixed-use commercial
project or simply lending to an individual who is
building a personal residence, Cardinal provides
customized approaches and creative solutions.
Knowledge, experience and exceptional personal
service strengthen Cardinal’s reputation in local real
estate lending, providing the groundwork for on-going

growth and success.

Right: Joe Shieh {lef) and Mike McGhan {right) of McShay Homes
show Dennis Griffith, EVP, R.E. lending {center) their latest plans.

Shich end Mike McGhen, pringipels of MeShay H@m@a shorisd
bullding  single-fomily and fewn seven
m@mﬁh&%@p@@@@b%@ﬁ@m@ﬂw pMu@GW@M{M

carm em @ selie ’r@ fem, Tediay, thelr business cenifnues
fo @As[g@@d wff[}i @@mﬂ as thelr fnendiel permer “The
prefessionsls @ﬁ Cerdinal heve seel eequisiion,
Fnencng knowledge, end they
knew &l the lbenkers end players n this eres, whidh helps them
teflor compsiitve preduels and serviess thel pinpoint eur needs,”




s . Nl
e @ A 2‘\
oooak o vk dul il Py
[N N N
! i'
¢ W'} e
. y:

56 Going forward, what is really significant
is that with the success of their recent
capital offering and expanding lending
limits, Cardinal Bank is poised to meet our

increasing requirements as we grow...””

Joe Shieh, McShay Homes, Alexandria

‘—.%Li =

Financing By . .
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Dennis Griffith, 703-584-3425




GOVERNMENT CONTRACT LENDING

The goal of Government Contract Lending is to
become the premier financial services provider for
small to mid-sized government contractors—not

only for lending, but also for other financial needs,

including deposit, cash management, investment

and personal banking services. Leading this initiative
is Cardinal’s new Senior Vice President, Seth Carter.
His professionalism and extensive knowledge of the
specialized needs of government contractors has already
generated increased lending activity and industry
recognition for Cardinal Bank.

Teaming with Cardinal’s experienced commercial lenders
and enjoying the leverage that SBA Preferred Lender
status allows, Government Contract Lending looks

forward to exciting growth in 2004 and beyond. Business

opportunities are further enhanced by Cardinal’s
Government Contract Advisory Board, made up of local

CPAs, attorneys and other business professionals who
provide important and valuable insights on the market.
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Top/Center: Wendy Rufo and Gary Nakamoto {center} of Base

Technologies, Inc. pose with Seth Carter, Sr. VP, Government Contract

Lending, in an entry way that displays significant government contract

awards. Far Right: Rex Wagner heads Cardinal Weclth Services, Inc.




CARDINAL WEALTH SERVICES
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Cardinal Wealth Services, the banK’s full service investment
subsidiary, completed another successtul year, providing
customers with a broad array of investment programs to
meet their financial needs. During 2003, Cardinal Wealth
grew 30% with approximately $129 million in assets
under management and 1,000 client relationships.

Rex Wagner joined Cardinal Wealth as President and CEO,
bringing more than 25 years of experience in the financial
services industry. A strong business relationship with
Raymond James Financial continues to expand in many
areas, including asset management, financial planning,
alternative investments and investment banking. Raymond
James Financial provides in-depth investment services
to individuals and institutional investors worldwide.

Cardinal Wealth Services turns
the complexities of Wall Street

into the redlities of Main Street...?”

Rex Wagpner, President & CEO
Cardinal Wedlth Services, Inc.




RETAIL BANKING

Retail Banking grew in 2003 with the opening of three new
banking offices. In September, a second Tysons Corner office
opened in the lobby of the corporate headquarters building.
In October, a new office in downtown Leesburg expanded
Cardinal’s presence in Loudoun County. In December, a
second Prince William County office opened in Woodbridge.

Continued banking consolidations in the local market pro-
vide great opportunities for expansion and enable Cardinal
to demonstrate its ability to provide superior personal service,
competitive products and convenient access to banking
networks.

Cardinal is committed to providing competitive products
and services that offer real value. Highly successful deposit

Left: Banking Office Manager Lynn Gulick, Delegate Vince Callahan and
Chairman and CEO Bernard Clineburg at Greensboro Ribbon Cutting in
Tysons Corner. Center: Children delight over Cardinal MoneyMagic Coin
Counting Machine available in many Cardinal banking lobbies.

Right: Commercial Lender Cheryl Beebe greets Cecelio and Lelond
Mahan at a Friends of Cardinal event in leesburg.

Center of page: K.C. Cardinal bank mascot arrived in late 2003, and

will help celebrate future bank events!

products include Totally Free Checking, which gives consumers
an affordable checking account alternative, and the President’s
Club Relationship Package, which pays a rate of interest
well above other consumer interest-bearing checking plans

in the market.

In the consumer lending area, Cardinal offers a Home
Equity Line of Credit with a market-low, six-month introductory
rate, followed by an ongoing rate of Prime minus one-half
percent. This outstanding line-of-credit offer, combined
with the fixed-term and fixed-rate options, is among the best
in the market.

With a focus on innovative new services, Cardinal Bank was
the first bank in the Washington region to install MoneyMagic™
coin-counting machines and provide free coin-counting

service to retail customers.

Technology plays an increasingly important role in
Cardinal’s retail banking program. With Telephone Banking

and Cardinal Online Banking and Bill Pay, customers can
obtain information, monitor accounts, pay bills and
perform many routine banking transactions by phone or /’/
computer, 24 hours a day. A new feature of Cardinal Online L
Banking gives users direct access to their check images.

In September 2003, Cardinal Bank received a “Top Rating for -——
Service” by Washington Consumers’ Checkbook Magazine.



_ reemmm———— COMMITMENT TO COMMUNITY

- Cardinal Bank, its officers and employees, played
an active role in community, business, civic and
charitable organizations during 2003. These
organizations included the American Heart
Association, Prince William Education Foundation,
OWTL Volunteer Fire Department, City of Fairfax

Renaissance Housing Corporation and Loudoun

County Economic Development Commission.

W Cardinal is particularly proud of its new relationship
— B} - with the Inova Kellar Center, a not-for-profit

S

- g outpatient mental health and substance abuse

- b treatment center serving children, adolescents and

their families in Northern Virginia. The inaugural
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Left: President Kevin Reynolds {left) Cardinal Bank Charity Golf Classic, held May 17,
presens @ donafion of $105,000 fo 2003, raised $105,000 to benefit the Center’s family
J. Knox Singleton, Chairman of inova d hari
Health System and Jennifer Goins programs. An expanded Second Annual Charity
and Dr. George Bailey both of the Classic will encompass both golf and tennis, with an
Inova Kellar Center, final results of aggressive goal of raising $200,000 in 2004.

the First Annual Cardinal Bank
Charity Golf Classic to benefit the
organization.

Right: A young customer makes a
savings deposit at one of Cardinal’s
12 convenient Cardinal banking

offices in Northern Virginia.
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Selected Financial Information

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(In thousands, except per share data)
Income Statement Data:
Interest income $ 24,602 $ 20,242 $ 16,577 $ 11,150 $ 4,330
Interest expense 9,429 9,586 7,500 4,740 1,305
Net interest income 15,173 10,656 9,077 6,410 3,025
Provision for loan losses 1,001 444 1,202 753 514
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 14,172 10,212 7,875 5,657 2,511
Non-interest income 3,829 2,864 3,157 2,098 1,320
Non-interest expense 15,355 13,605 23,756 11,726 7,870
Net income (loss) before income taxes 2,646 (529) (12,724) (3,971) (4,039)
Income tax benefit (3,508) — — — —
Net income (loss) 6,154 (529) (12,724) (3,971) (4,039)
Dividends to preferred shareholders 495 495 503 171 —
Net income (loss) to common shareholders - $ 5,659 $ (1,024) $(13,227) $ (4,142) $(4,039) .
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $636,248 $486,323 $279,584 $207,048 $97,033
Loans receivable, net of fees © 336,002 249,106 200,911 154,271 68,167
Allowance for loan losses 4,344 3,372 3,104 1,900 726
Total investment securities 273,614 163,665 34,147 6,935 4,807
Total deposits 474,129 423,479 246,024 163,371 59,873
Other borrowed funds 74,457 2,000 9,824 7,287 6,000
Total shareholders’ equity 85,412 40,712 20,624 34,112 30,745
Preferred shares outstanding 1,364 1,365 1,365 1,411 —
Common shares outstanding 16,377 10,044 4,294 4,253 4,243
Per Common Share Data: :
Basic net income (loss) - $ 055 $ (0.13) $ (3.11) $ (0.98) $ (0.95)
Fully diluted net income (loss) 0.54 (0.13) (3.11) (0.98) (0.95)
Book value 4.80 3.37 3.21 6.36 7.25
Tangible book value 4.80 3.31 3.06 4.11 7.25
Performance Ratios:
Return on average assets 1.18% (0.14)% (5.24)% (2.72)% (5.61)%
Return on average equity 15.05 (1.61) (39.14) (12.72) (12.26)
Net interest margin’ 3.00 2.92 4.17 4.82 4.59
Efficiency ratio® 80.81 100.63 194.18 137.82 181.13
Non-interest income to average assets 0.73 0.74 1.30 1.44 1.83
Non-interest expense to average assets 2.94 3.50 9.79 8.03 10.93
Total loans receivable, net of fees to total deposits 70.87 58.82 81.66 94.43 113.85
Asset Quality Ratios:
Net charge-offs to average loans receivable 0.01% 0.05% —% —% —%
Nonperforming loans to loans receivable, net of fees 0.12 0.39 0.46 0.38 —
Nonperforming loans to total assets 0.06 0.20 0.33 0.28 —
Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans 1,102.54 345.49 334.84 323.68 —
Allowance for loan losses to loan receivable, net of fees 1.29 1.35 1.54 1.23 1.07
Capital Ratios:
Tier 1 risk-based capital 19.66% | 12.25% 9.04% 18.89% 37.86%
Total risk-based capital 20.66 13.35 10.42 19.94 38.75
Leverage capital ratio 15.45 8.97 8.57 17.39 32.55
Other:
Average shareholders’ equity to average total assets 7.84% 8.45% 13.39% 21.37% 45.76%
Average loans receivable, net of fees to average

total deposits 63.02 59.36 91.69 97.03 92.07
Average common shares outstanding:

Basic 10,218 7,949 4,258 4,246 4,241

Diluted 10,445 7,949 4,258 4,246 4,241

(1) Net interest margin is calculated as net interest income divided by total average earning assets.
(2) Efficiency ratio is calculated as total non-interest expense divided by the total of net interest income and non-interest income.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following presents management’s discussion and analysis
of our consolidated financial condition at December 31, 2003
and 2002 and the results of our operations for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. The discussion should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated

‘financial statements.

Overview

Cardinal Financial Corporation (“Cardinal”), a locally owned
and managed financial services organization headquartered in
Tysons Corner, Virginia, is committed to providing top quality
customer service, a diversified product mix and convenient
avenues for banking to consumers and businesses. We own
Cardinal Bank, N.A., a nationally chartered community bank,
and Cardinal Wealth Services, Inc., an investment services
subsidiary. Through these two subsidiaries, we offer a wide
range of banking products and services to both our commercial
and retail customers. Our commercial relationship managers
focus on attracting small and medium-sized business as well as
commiercial real estate developers and builders and professionals,
such as physicians, accountants and attorneys. We have an
expansive retail branch network and develop competitive
retail products and services. We complement our core banking
operations by offering investment products and services to our
customers through our third-party brokerage relationship with
Raymond James Financial Services, Inc.

Net interest income is our primary source of income. As
discussed further in our interest rate sensitivity section, we
manage our balance sheet and interest rate risk to enhance our
net interest income. We do this by monitoring the spread
between the interest rates earned on investment securities and
loans and the interest rate paid on deposits and other interest-
bearing liabilities. Changes in interest rates will affect our
operating performance and financial condition. We attempt to
minimize our exposure to interest rate risk, but are unable to
eliminate it. In addition to management of interest rate risk, we
analyze our loan portfolio for exposure to credit risk. Risk of
loan defaults and foreclosures are unavoidable in the banking
industry, and we try to limit our exposure to this risk by
monitoring our extensions of credit carefully. In addition to
net interest income, non-interest income is a source of income
for us and includes service charges on deposits and loans,
investment fee income and gains on sales on investment secu-
rities available-for-sale.

Our business strategy is to grow through geographic expansion
while maintaining strong asset quality and achieving sustained
profitability. We completed a secondary common stock offer-
ing that raised $41.7 million in capital in December 2003 and
an additional $6.7 million in capital following the exercise of

the underwriters’ over-allotment option in January 2004. This
capital is being used to support the expansion of our branch
office network and balance sheet growth. We were able to
increase our legal lending limit to over $12 million, which will
allow us to expand our commercial and real estate lending loan
portfolios. We expect to increase our loan-to-deposit ratio and
shift the mix of our earning assets to higher yielding loans. We
intend to increase our selection of banking products and finan-
cial services in order to diversify our revenue base, increase fee
income, and strengthen customer relationships.

Recent Financial Developments

Prior to March 2002, Cardinal was a muilti-bank organization.
In addition to Cardinal Bank, N.A., which began operations in
1998, we opened two additional banking subsidiaries in 1999,
and acquired an additional banking subsidiary through our
acquisition of Heritage Bancorp, Inc. in 2000. From November
2001 to March 2002, we consolidated three of our banking
subsidiaries into Cardinal Bank, N.A. We completed the
consolidation of our original four banking subsidiaries into a
single bank in order to reduce costs and streamline operations
and decision-making.

We were required to evaluate our goodwill for impairment and,
in the fourth quarter of 2001, we had an $8.3 million impair-
ment of goodwill, substantially eliminating the goodwill

attributable to the purchase of Heritage Bancorp, Inc. The

writedown arose from our evaluation of losses incurred by
the Heritage banking subsidiary during 2000 and 2001, cou-
pled with expectations of future additional losses. A valuation
of the bank was performed by an external consultant in
response to these impairment indicators. The valuation con-
firmed a significant impairment in our investment in Heritage
and resulted in the writedown of goodwill.

As a result of the bank consolidation, we reduced staffing levels
during the fourth quarter of 2001. We reduced our number
of employees from 138 on June 30, 2001 to 105 as of December
31, 2001. Most of the staff reductions were made in the com-
mercial lending area of the bank, which had become over-
staffed in light of the shift in strategy from four banks to one.
We also made significant reductions in staff in our centralized
administration areas, including accounting, deposit operations
and credit administration.

Our restructuring resulted in significant savings in operating
costs during 2002. However, an other than temporary write-
down of $1.7 million on a WorldCom bond recorded in the
second quarter of 2002, created a reported net loss to
common shareholders of $1.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002.
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2003 was our first full year of profitability. We reported net
income of $5.7 million or $0.54 per diluted common share
in 2003. Included in this net income, we recorded an income
tax benefit of $3.5 million attributable to the recognition of
a deferred tax asset resulting primarily from prior periods’ net
operating loss carryforwards. The pretax profitability to
common shareholders in 2003 was $2.2 million, which was
achieved through continued growth in our earning assets, as
well as increases in non-interest income, mostly attributable to
$1.4 million of realized gains on sales of investment securities
available-for-sale. These sales were mostly from our mortgage-
backed investment securities available-for-sale portfolio, which
had accelerated prepayment speeds as a result of the low mort-
gage rate environment during 2003. We sold these securities
with realized gains and reinvested the funds in our loan and
investment securities portfolio. We do not expect to record
such gains in the future, although we may sell portions of our
available-for-sale investment securities portfolio as needed for
liquidity purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies

General

Accounting policies generally accepted in the United States are
complex and require management to apply significant judg-
ment to various accounting, reporting, and disclosure matters.
Management must use assumptions and estimates to apply
these principles where actual measurements are not possible or
practical. These policies are critical because they are highly
dependent upon subjective or complex judgments, assump-
tions and estimates. Changes in such estimates may have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accounting policies we view as critical to us are those
relating to estimates and judgments regarding the determina-
tion of the allowance for loan losses and the valuation of
deferred tax assets.

Allowance for Loan Losses

We maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level that repre-
sents management’s best estimate of known and inherent
losses in the loan portfolio. Both the amount of the provision
expense and the level of the allowance for loan losses are
impacted by many factors, including general economic condi-
tions, actual and expected credit losses, historical trends and
specific conditions of the individual borrower. As a part of our
analysis, we use comparative peer group data, duration factors
and qualitative factors such as levels of and trends in delin-
quencies and nonaccrual loans, national and local economic
trends and conditions and concentrations of loans exhibiting
similar risk profiles to support our estimates.

Credit losses are an inherent part of our business and, although
we believe the methodologies for determining the allowance
for loan losses and the current level of the allowance are
adequate, it is possible that there may be unidentified losses in
the portfolio that may become evident only at a future date.
Additional provisions for such losses, if necessary, would nega-
tively impact earnings and would be recorded in the commer-
cial banking business segment.

For purposes of our loan loss reserve methodology, we catego-
rize our loans into one of five categories: commercial and
industrial, commercial real estate (including construction),
home equity lines of credit, residential mortgages, and con-
sumer loans. Peer group annual loss factors (in the absence of
historical results) are applied to all categories and are adjusted
by the projected duration of the loan category and by the
qualitative factors mentioned above. The indicated loss factors
resulting from this analysis are applied to each of the loan cate-
gories to determine a reserve level for each of the five categories
of loans. In addition, we individually assign loss factors to all
loans that have been identified as having loss attributes, as
indicated by deterioration in the financial condition of the
borrower or a decline in underlying collateral values. Since we
have limited historical data on which to base loss factors for
classified loans, we apply, in accordance with regulatory guide-
lines, a 5% loss factor to all special mention loans and a 15%
loss factor to all substandard loans.

Valuation of Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax
effects of differing carrying values of assets and liabilities for
tax and financial statement purposes that will reverse in future
periods. When substantial uncertainty exists concerning the
recoverability of a deferred tax asset, the carrying value of the
asset is reduced by a valuation allowance. During the fourth
quarter of 2003, we recorded an income tax benefit of $3.5
million primarily attributable to the recognition of deferred tax
assets related to our net operating loss carryforwards. The ben-
efit of our deferred tax assets was recognized based on a
detailed assessment indicating that it is more likely than not
that the benefit of these net operating losses would be realized
through the generation of future taxable income. Additional
information on the valuation allowance can be found in
Footnote 9 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Caution About Forward-Looking Statements

We make forward-looking statements in this annual report that
are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking
statements include statements regarding our profitability,
liquidity, allowance for loan losses, interest rate sensitivity,
market risk, growth strategy, and financial and other goals. The
" “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “projects,”

words “believes,
" “anticipates,” “forecasts,” “intends,” or other

“contemplates,
similar words or terms are intended to identify forward-looking

statements.

These forward-looking statements are subject to significant
uncertainties because they are based upon or are affected by
factors including:

* the ability to successfully manage our growth or implement
our growth strategies if we are unable to identify attractive
markets, locations or opportunities to expand in the future;

+ changes in interest rates and interest rate policies;

* risks inherent in making loans such as repayment risks and
fluctuating collateral values;

+ the successful management of interest rate risk;

* maintaining cost controls and asset qualities as we open or
acquire new branches;

+ maintaining capital levels adequate to support our growth;

+ reliance on our management team, including our ability to
attract and retain key personnel;

* competition with other banks and financial institutions, and
companies outside of the banking industry, including those
companies that have substantially greater access to capital and
other resources;

* changes in general economic and business conditions in our
market area;

+ demand, development and acceptance of new products and
services;

« problems with technology utilized by us;

* changing trends in customer profiles and behavior; and

» changes in banking and other laws and regulations applicable
to us.

Because of these uncertainties, our actual future resuits may be
materially different from the results indicated by these forward-
looking statements. In addition, our past results of operations
do not necessarily indicate our future results.

New Financial Accounting Standards

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, which addresses how a business enter-
prise should evaluate whether it has a controlling financial
interest in an entity through means other than voting rights
and accordingly, should consolidate the entity. FIN 46 Revised

(FIN 46R), issued in December 2003, replaces FIN 46. FIN 46R
requires public entities to apply FIN 46 or FIN 46R to all enti-
ties that are considered special-purpose entities in practice and
under the FASB literature that was applied before the issuance
of FIN 46 by the end of the first reporting period ending after
December 15, 2003. For any variable interest entities (VIE) that
must be consolidated under FIN 46R, the assets, liabilities and
noncontrolling interests of the VIE initially would be measured
at their carrying amounts with any difference between the net
amount added to the balance sheet and any previously recog-
nized interest being recognized as the cumulative effect of an
accounting change. If determining the carrying amounts is not
practicable, fair value at the date FIN 46R first applies may be
used to measure the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling inter-
est of the VIE. We adopted FIN 46R as of December 31, 2003
and currently have no variable interest entities that require
consolidation of previously unconsolidated entities or disclo-
sure in the consolidated financial statements,

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 149, Amendment of
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,
which is generally effective for contracts entered into or modified
after June 30, 2003. This Statement amends and clarifies financial
accounting and reporting for derivative instruments embedded
in other contracts, collectively referred to as “derivatives” and
hedging activities under Statement No. 133. Statement No. 149
has not had an impact on our equity, financial condition or
results of operations.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 150, Accounting
for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both
Liabilities and Equity. This Statement establishes standards for
classifying and measuring certain financial instruments that
embody obligations of the issuer and have characteristics of
both liabilities and equity. The provisions of Statement No. 150
became effective June 1, 2003, for all financial instruments
created or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise became
effective as of July 1, 2003. The adoption of this standard did
not have a material impact on our equity, financial condition,
or operating results.

In December 2003, the FASB deferred for an indefinite period
the application of the guidance in Statement No. 150 to non-
controlling interests that are classified as equity in the financial
statements of a subsidiary but would be classified as a liability
in the parent’s financial statements under Statement No. 150.
The deferral is limited to mandatorily redeemable noncon-
trolling interests associated with finite-lived subsidiaries.
Management does not believe any such applicable entities exist
as of December 31, 2003.
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In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others, which addresses the disclosures to be made by a guar-
antor in its interim and annual financial statements about
its obligations under guarantees. FIN 45 also requires the
recognition of a liability by a guarantor at the inception of
certain guarantees. The liability is recognized for the non-
contingent component of the guarantee, which is the obli-
gation to stand ready to perform in the event that specified
triggering events or conditions occur. The initial measurement
of this liability is the fair value of the guarantee at inception.
The recognition of the liability is required even if it is not
probable that payments will be required under the guarantee,
or if the guarantee was issued with a premium payment, or as
part of a transaction with multiple elements. We currently have
$3.3 million of standby letters of credit that require accounting
and disclosure under FIN 45. No liability has been recorded
as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, as such
amounts were immaterial. '

Financial Overview

2003 Compared to 2002

At December 31, 2003, total assets were $636.2 million, an
increase of 30.8% or $149.9 million, compared to $486.3 million
at December 31, 2002. Total loans receivable, net of fees,
increased 34.9% or $86.9 million, to $336.0 million at December
31, 2003, compared to $249.1 million at December 31, 2002.
Total investment securities increased by $109.9 million, or 67.2%,
to $273.6 million at December 31, 2003, compared to $163.7 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002. Total deposits increased 12.0%, or
$50.7 million, to $474.1 million at December 31, 2003, com-
pared to $423.5 million at December 31, 2002. Other borrowed
funds increased $72.5 million to $74.5 million at December 31,
2003 compared to $2.0 million at December 31, 2002. During
2003, we introduced repurchase agreements to our customers,
which totaled $25.5 million at December 31, 2003. In addition,
advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta increased
to $49.0 million as of December 31, 2003, due primarily to this
funding source being at its lowest interest rates in several years.

Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2003 was $85.4 million,
an increase of $44.7 million, compared to $40.7 million at
December 31, 2002. The increase in shareholders’ equity is pri-
marily attributable to our completing a secondary common
stock offering of 6.3 million shares that raised $41.7 million in
new capital during December 2003. In addition, we issued
another 945,000 shares in January 2004, as a result of the exer-
cise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, which pro-

vided us with an additional $6.7 million in capital. This
additional capital will be used to support branch expansion,
additional asset growth and general corporate purposes. In
addition, net income to common shareholders of $5.7 million
contributed to the increase in shareholders’ equity, offset by the
change in unrealized losses on investment securities available-
for-sale of $2.9 million. Book value per common share at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $4.80 and $3.37, respectively.
Total risk-based capital to total risk-weighted assets increased
to 20.66% at December 31, 2003 compared to 13.35% at
December 31, 2002, maintaining a well-capitalized position for
regulatory purposes going into 2004. Total shareholders’ equity
to total assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were 13.4% and
8.4%, respectively.

We recorded net income of $5.7 million, or $0.54 per diluted
common share, for the year ended December 31, 2003, com-
pared to a net loss of $1.0 million or $0.13 per common share,
for the comparable period in 2002, an improvement of $6.7
million. This net income includes an income tax benefit of
$3.5 million attributable to the recognition of prior periods’
net operating loss carryforwards. We recorded pretax income
of $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. All
results are presented after the effect of preferred stock divi-
dends of $495,000 for each of the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002.

The return on average assets for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002 was 1.18% and (0.14)%, respectively. The
return on average equity for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002 was 15.05% and (1.61)%, respectively.

2002 Compared to 2001

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002 totaled $1.0
million or $0.13 per common share, compared with a loss of
$13.2 million or $3.11 per common share for the same period
of 2001. The 2002 loss included an other than temporary
impairment of $1.7 million of an investment in a WorldCom
bond that we recorded in the second quarter of 2002. If the
impact of the WorldCom impairment were excluded, we would
have reported net income of $636,000, or $0.08 per common
share, for the year ended December 31, 2002. Table 1 shows a
reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP financial measures,
which we believe appropriately compares our operating results
for 2003, 2002 and 2001 by excluding the other than temporary
impairment, goodwill impairment and restructuring costs
reported in their respective periods. All year-end results
are presented after the effect of dividends paid to preferred
shareholders of $495,000 and $503,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The return on
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average assets for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001
were (0.14)% and (5.24)%, respectively. The return on average
equity for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were
(1.61)% and (39.14)%, respectively.

Total assets increased $206.7 million, or 74.0%, to $486.3 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002, compared to $279.6 million at
December 31, 2001. Asset growth was funded primarily by
deposit growth of $177.5 million, or 72.1%, to $423.5 million
at December 31, 2002. The strong growth experienced during
2002 is attributed to aggressive promotion of our products
through advertising and direct mail in addition to opening
our eighth branch in Arlington, Virginia during the fourth
quarter of 2002.

Total shareholders’ equity increased $20.1 million or 97.4% to
$40.7 million at December 31, 2002 compared to $20.6 million
at December 31, 2001. This increase was primarily a result of
the $18.5 million of additional capital that we raised in our two
common stock offerings during the second quarter of 2002.
Book value per common share increased to $3.37 at December
31, 2002 compared to $3.21 at December 31, 2001. The ratio
of risk-based capital to risk-based assets increased to 13.35%
at December 31, 2002 compared to 10.42% at December 31,
2001. Total shareholders’ equity to total assets at December 31,
2002 and 2001 were 8.4% and 7.4%, respectively.

Table 1
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Financial Measures
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001
Reported net income (loss) to common shareholders - $5,659  $(1,024) $(13,227)
Less impairments and restructuring costs: ‘

Other than temporary impairment of WorldCom bond — 1,660 —

Impairment of Heritage Bancorp goodwill — — 8,264

Restructuring costs —_— - 884
Net income (loss) without impairments and restructuring costs 1 $5,659  $ 636 $ (4,079)
Reported net income (loss) per common share $ 055 $(0.13) $ (3.11)
Less impairments and restructuring costs:

Other than temporary impairment of WorldCom bond — 021 —

Impairment of Heritage Bancorp goodwill — — 1.94

Restructuring costs — — 0.21
Earnings (loss) per common share without impairments and restructuring costs $055 $ 008 $ (0.96)

Statements of Operations

Net Interest Income/Margin

Net interest income is our primary source of revenue, repre-
senting the difference between interest and fees earned on
interest-bearing assets and the interest paid on deposits and
other interest-bearing liabilities. The level of net interest
income is affected primarily by variations in the volume and
mix of these assets and liabilities, as well as changes in interest
rates when compared to previous periods. During 2002 and

. continuing in 2003, we continued to experience a weakened
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economy that had entered into a recessionary phase early in
2001. During 2001, the Federal Reserve lowered rates eleven
times in order to generate economic growth. During the fourth
quarter of 2002, in response to this weakening economy and

the lack of any inflationary pressures, the Federal Reserve low-
ered rates an additional 50 basis points. During the third quar-
ter of 2003, the Federal Reserve again decreased interest rates
another 25 basis points. At 4.00%, the prime lending rate is at
its lowest levels in over forty years.

Net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2003 was
$15.2 million, compared to $10.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, an increase of $4.5 million, or 42.4%. The
increase in net interest income is a result of increases in average

volume of investment securities and 1oans receivable, net of the~

impact of decreased yields during 2003, compared with the
same period of 2002. These net increases were funded through
the increases in total deposits and other borrowed funds.
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Our net interest margin for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 was 3.00% and 2.929, respectively. The increase in the
net interest margin was a result of the decrease in the cost of
interest-bearing liabilities offset slightly by the decrease in the
yield on average earning assets. The average yield on interest-
earning assets decreased to 4.86% in 2003 from 5.54% in 2002
and our cost of interest-bearing liabilities decreased to 2.31% in
2003 from 3.27% in 2002. The decrease in our cost of interest-
bearing deposits is primarily the result of our decreasing the rate
on our President’s Club relationship product to 1.51%, down
from 2.00% at December 31, 2002. In addition, the yield on
other borrowed funds decreased 231 basis points to 1.68% at
December 31, 2003 compared to December 31, 2002.

Total earning assets increased by 37.0% to $616.7 million at
December 31, 2003, compared to $450.3 million at December
31, 2002. This increase consisted mainly of a $86.9 million, or
34,9%, increase in loans receivable, net of fees and a $109.9 mil-
lion, or 67.2%, increase in total investment securities. These
increases were funded by deposit growth of $50.7 million, or
12.0%, and other borrowed funds growth of $72.5 million over
December 31, 2002 balances. In addition, proceeds from our
secondary offering of $41.7 million funded our earning asset
growth as of December 31, 2003.

Average total loans increased $66.1 million to $272.8 million
during 2003 from $206.7 million in 2002. Average balances of
nonperforming assets, which consist of nonaccrual loans, are
included in the net interest margin calculation and did not have
a material impact on our net interest margin in 2003 and 2002.
Additional interest income of approximately $39,000 for 2003
and $37,000 for 2002 would have been realized had all nonper-
forming assets performed as originally expected. Nonperforming
assets exclude loans that are both past due 90 days or more and
still accruing interest due to an assessment of collectibility.

Average total deposits increased $84.7 million to $432.8 million
in 2003 from $348.1 million in 2002. The largest increase in aver-
age deposit balances was experienced in certificates of deposit,
an increase of $42.9 million compared to 2002, a result of our
branch expansion and increased advertising of our rates on
certificates of deposit.

Net interest income was $10.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, up $1.6 million or 17.4% from 2001. The
increase was primarily due to the increase in loans and invest-
ment securities available-for-sale during 2002, funded through
the increase in total deposits and shareholders’ equity. The
increase in net interest income was tempered by a reduction in
our net interest margin, due primarily to yields on earning
assets continuing to decline at a faster pace than the decline in
yields on interest bearing liabilities.

The net interest margin was 2.92% for the year ended December
31, 2002 compared to 4.17% in 2001. The decrease in the net
interest margin was representative of the change in the mix of
earning assets towards lower yielding investments and to the
lower rate environment experienced during 2002. The average
yield on interest earning assets decreased to 5.54% in 2002 from
7.61% in 2001 and our average cost of interest-bearing
liabilities decreased to 3.27% in 2002 from 4.71% in 2001.

Total earning assets increased by 70.5% to $450.3 million at
December 31, 2002, compared to $264.1 million at December
31, 2001. This increase consisted mainly of a $47.9 million, or
24.2%, increase in net loans receivable and a $129.5 million, or
379.3%, increase in investment securities available-for-sale.
These increases were primarily funded by deposit growth of
$177.5 million, or 72.1%, over December 31, 2001 balances.

Average total loans increased $25.6 million to $206.7 million
during 2002 from $181.0 million in 2001. Average balances of
nonperforming assets, which consist of nonaccrual loans, are
included in the net interest margin calculation and did not have a
material impact on our net interest margin in 2002 and 2001.
Additional interest income of approximately $37,000 for 2002
and $17,000 for 2001 would have been realized had all nonper-
forming assets performed as originally expected. Nonperforming
assets exclude loans that are both past due 90 days or more and
still accruing interest due to an assessment of collectibility.

Average total deposits increased $150.7 million to $348.1 million
in 2002 from $197.4 million in 2001. The largest increase in
average deposit balances was experienced in interest checking,
an increase of $96.7 million compared to 2001, as a result of our
President’s Club relationship account promotion.
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The following tables contain more detailed information concerning average balances, yields earned, and rates paid.

Table 2
Average Balance Sheets and Interest Rates on Earning Assets and Interest-Bearing Liabilities
(Dollars in thousands)

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001
Interest Interest Interest
Average Income/ Average Income/ Average Income/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate
Assets ‘
Interest-earning assets:
Loans®:
Commercial and industrial $ 50,188 $ 3,101 6.18%  $ 52,960 $ 3,696 6.98% $ 52,063 $ 4,407 8.46%
Real estate—commercial 121,345 8,422 6.94 91,289 7,276  7.97 72,500 6,288 8.67
Real estate—construction © 20,427 1,131 554 6,156 375 6.09 5,634 487 8.64
Real estate—residential . 38,059 2,414 6.34 20,139 1,534 7.62 17,972 1,501 8.35
Home equity lines 33,720 1,121 3.32 23,711 993 4.19 18,023 1,146 6.36
Consumer 9,026 662 7.33 12,399 924 7.45 14,827 1,144 7.72
Total loans 272,765 16,851 6.18 206,654 14,798 7.16 181,019 14,973 8.27
Investment securities available-for-sale 152,915 5,026 3.29 101,589 4,501 4.43 7,022 437 6.22
Investment securities held-to-maturity 67,685 2,483 3.67 — — 0.00 — — 0.00
Other investments 2,906 135 4.65 1,253 72 5.75 1,373 82 597
Federal funds sold 9,753 107 1.10 . 55,773 871 1.56 28,467 1,085 3.81
Total interest-earning assets
and interest income 506,024 24,602 4.86%: 365,269 20,242 5.54% 217,881 16,577 7.61%
Noninterest-earning assets:
Cash and due from banks © 10,291 18,595 10,467
Premises and equipment, net 5,249 4,820 5,579
Goodwill and other intangibles 646 651 9,228
Accrued interest and other assets 3,265 2,551 1,695
Allowance for loan losses (3,652) (3,060) (2,118)
Total assets ' $521,823 $388,826 $242,732

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Interest-bearing deposits:

Interest checking 147,746 2,375 1.61% 114,350 3,073 2.69% 17,675 370 2.09%
Money markets 26,722 208 0.78 28,667 525 1.83 25,346 767 3.03
Statement savings 5,389 35 0.65 4,305 52 1.21 4,371 102 2.33
Certificates of deposit 182,922 6,038 3.30 140,033 5,714 4.08 101,932 5,788 5.68°
Total interest-bearing deposits 362,779 8,656 2.39 287,355 9,364 3.26 149,324 7,027 471
Other borrowed funds i 46,069 773 1.68 5,564 222 3.9 10,002 473 4.73
Total interest-bearing liabilities ‘
and interest expense 408,848 9,429 231% 292,919 9,586 3.27% 159,326 7,500 4.71%
Noninterest-bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits 70,030 60,786 48,110
Other liabilities ‘ 2,043 2,282 2,790
Preferred shareholders’ equity - T 6,824 6,825 7,056
Common shareholders’ equity © 34,078 T 26,014 25,450
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity = $521,823 $388,826 $242,732

Net interest income and net
interest margin(” $15,173  3.00% $10,656 2.92% $ 9,077 4.17%

(1) Non-accrual loans are included in average balances and do not have a material effect on the average yield. Interest income on non-accruing loans was
not material for the years presented.
(2) We do not have investments that have tax benefit attributes; therefore, there are no tax equivalent adjustments to our net interest income.
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Table 3
Rate and Volume Analysis
(Dollars in thousands)
Years ended December 31 2003 Compared to 2002 2002 Compared to 2001
Change Due to Change Due to
Average Average  Increase  Average Average Increase
Volume Rate (Decrease) Volume Rate (Decrease)
Interest income:
Loans: "
Commercial and industrial $(193) $ (402) $(595) $ 76 $ (787) $ (711)
Real estate—commercial 2,396 (1,250) 1,146 1,630 (642) 988
Real estate—construction 869 (113) 756 45 (157) (112)
Real estate—residential 1,365 (485) 880 181 (148) 33
Home equity lines 419 (291) 128 362 (515) (153)
Consumer (251) (11 (262) (187) (33) (220)
Total loans 4,605 (2,552) 2,053 2,107 (2,282) (175)
Investment securities available-for-sale 2,274 (1,749) 525 5,885 (1,821) 4,064
Investment securities held-to-maturity 2,483 — 2,483 — — —
Other investmients 95 (32) 63 (7) (3) (10)
Federal funds sold (719) (45) (764) 1,041 (1,255) (214)
Total interest income 8,738 (4,378) 4,360 9,026 (5,361) 3,665
Interest expense:
Interest-bearing deposits:
Interest checking 897 (1,595) (698) 2,024 679 2,703
Money markets (36) (281) (317) 100 (342) (242)
Statement savings 13 (30) (17) (2) (48) (50)
Certificates of deposit 1,750 (1,426) 324 2,163 (2,237) (74)
Total interest-bearing deposits 2,624 (3,332) (708) 4,285 (1,948) 2,337
Other borrowed funds 1,616 (1,065) 551 (210) (41) (251)
Total interest expense 4,240 (4,397) (157) 4,075 (1,989) 2,086
Net interest income® $4,498 $ 19 $4,517 - $4,951 $(3,372) $1,579

(1) Non-accrual loans are included in average balances and do not have a material effect on the average yield. Interest income on non-accruing loans was

not material for the years presented.

(2) We do not have investments that have tax benefit attributes; therefore, there are no tax equivalent adjustments to our net interest income.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Asset/liability management involves monitoring our sensitiv-
ity to interest rate movements. In order to measure the effects
of changes in interest rates on our net interest income, we
take into consideration the expected cash flows from the loan
and investment securities portfolios and the expected magni-
tude of the repricing of specific asset and liability categories.
Management evaluates interest rate risk and then formulates

guidelines to manage this risk based upon its outlook regard-
ing the economy, forecasted interest rate movements and
other business factors. Management’s goal is to maximize
and stabilize the net interest margin by limiting exposure to
interest rate changes.

QOur Asset/Liability Committee is responsible for reviewing
our liquidity requirements and maximizing our net interest
income, consistent with capital requirements, liquidity, interest

%2003
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rate and economic outlooks, competitive factors and customer
needs. One of the tools we use to determine our interest rate
risk is gap analysis. Gap analysis attempts to examine the vol-
ume of interest rate sensitive assets less interest rate sensitive
liabilities in various time intervals. The difference is the interest
sensitivity gap, which indicates how future changes in interest
rates may affect net interest income. Interest sensitivity gap
analysis presents a position that exists at one particular point
in time and assumes that assets and liabilities with similar
characteristics will reprice at the same time and to the same
degree. Under our asset/liability policies, regardless of whether
interest rates are expectéd to increase or decrease, the objective
is to maintain a gap position that will minimize any changes in
net interest income. A negative gap, or liability sensitive posi-
tion, exists when we have more interest sensitive liabilities
maturing within a certain gap interval than interest sensitive
assets. Under this scenario, if interest rates were to increase, it
would tend to reduce interest income.

At December 31, 2003, we were liability sensitive in the 2-90
day, 91-180 day, and 181-365 day gap intervals by —1.6%,
~2.3% and —-11.7%, respectively. This is within our asset/liabil-
ity management policy, which indicates that we maintain an
interest rate sensitivity position +/—15% to total assets. We can
reprice our interest checking, savings, and money market
accounts at any time. We carefully analyze the impact of any
decrease in interest rates on our deposits, as we may experience
a runoff in deposit balances as a result of such changes in
interest rates. Based on the degree and frequency of movement
being limited in practice, we have classified 20% of these
deposits in our immediate gap interval, 10% of these deposits
in each of the gap intervals from 2-90 days through the 1-3
year gap interval, leaving the remaining portion or 40% of
these deposits in the over 3 year gap interval. We continue to
analyze the activity in our deposit portfolio and make changes
in our gap assumptions as the activity dictates.

We also use a simulation process to measure interest rate risk
and the impact of rate fluctuations on net interest income.
These simulations incorporate assumptions regarding balance

sheet growth and mix, and the repricing and maturity charac-
teristics of existing and projected balance sheets. One of the
ways we manage our interest rate risk is through an analysis of
the relationship between interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities to measure the impact that future changes in
interest rates will have on net interest income. Using this rela-
tionship analysis, changes in interest rates and volumes are
used to test the sensitivity of our net interest income. While we
show liability sensitivity in the short term indicating that an
increase in interest rates may negatively affect short-term net
interest income, we would likely take actions to minimize our
exposure to negative results and within a short period of time
make adjustments so that net interest income would not be
materially impacted.

During the past two years, our focus has been to increase our
deposit market share through promotion of our President’s
Club and Totally Free Checking products. The success of these
promotions allowed us to grow our asset base 30.8% from
December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2003 and 74.0% from
December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2002. Our President’s
Club relationship product allows customers with aggregate
balances of over $10,000 to earn an above market rate on their
average balances, 1.51% as of December 31, 2003. Because of
the success of this promotion, our net interest margin slightly
increased during the year and averaged 3.00% for the year
ended December 31, 2003. Our current focus is to continue
to improve our net interest margin by staying fully invested,
minimizing lower yielding short-term investments and using
our substantial mortgage-backed investment securities port-
folio for backup liquidity needs.

We expect our net interest income will be greater over the
longer term at higher prevailing interest rate levels, although
we may be negatively affected by rising rates in the shorter
term. This is due to the large proportion of low-cost core
deposits such as demand, interest checking, savings, and
money market accounts comprising our funding sources,
which tend to be less sensitive to rising rates and can be
invested in relatively higher yielding contradictory loans and
investment securities.
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Table 4
Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap Analysis
(Dollars in thousands)

Immediate 2-90 91-180 181-365 1-3 Over 3

At December 31, 2003 Repricing Days Days Days Years Years Total
Assets
Total investment securities and

other investments $ 1,247 $ 14,671 $ 14,912 $ 18,758 $ 96,925 $130,618 $277,131
Federal funds sold 3,528 — — — — — 3,528
Loans receivable, net of fees
Commercial and industrial 131,227 3,216 3,991 7,337 21,542 30,085 197,398
Residential 1,399 398 1,231 4,152 8,029 27,286 42,495
Home equity lines 3,532 33,720 5,115 809 — — 43,176
Construction 30,997 2,241 3,471 996 4,538 — 42,243
Consumer 4,566 534 182 430 729 4,249 10,690
Total loans receivable, net of fees 171,721 40,109 13,990 13,724 34,838 61,620 336,002
Total earning assets 176,496 54,780 28,902 32,482 131,763 192,238 616,661
Cumulative rate sensitive assets $176,496 $231,276 $260,178 $292,660 $424,423 $616,661
Liabilities
Deposits
Noninterest-bearing demand $ —  $ - $ - $ - 3 —  $70,998 $ 70,998
Interest-bearing transaction accounts 36,559 18,280 18,280 18,280 18,280 73,116 182,795
Certificates of deposit—fixed —_— 7,739 12,731 24,731 52,390 12,933 110,524
Certificates of deposit—no penalty — 27,533 11,869 51,785 18,625 — 109,812
Total Deposits 36,559 53,552 42,880 94,796 89,295 157,047 474,129
Other borrowed funds 25,499 11,625 625 12,250 13,249 11,209 74,457
Total deposits and other

borrowed funds 62,058 65,177 43,505 107,046 102,544 168,256 548,586
Cumulative rate sensitive liabilities $ 62,058 $127,235 $170,740 $277,786 $380,330  $548,586
Gap $114,438 $(10,397) $(14,603) $(74,564) $ 29,219 $ 23,982
Cumulative gap 114,438 104,041 89,438 14,874 44,093 68,075
Gap/total assets 17.99% (1.63)% (2.30)% (11.72)% 4.59% 3.77%
Cumulative gap/total assets 17.99% 16.35% 14.06% 2.34% 6.93% 10.70%
Rate sensitive assets/rate

sensitive liabilities 2.84 0.84 0.66 0.30 1.28 1.14
Cumulative rate sensitive

assets/cumulative rate

sensitive liabilities 2.84 1.82 1.52 1.05 1.12 1.12

Provision Expense and Allowance for Loan Losses

Our policy is to maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level
that represents our best estimate of known and inherent losses
in the loan portfolio. Both the amount of the provision and the
level of the allowance for loan losses are impacted by many
factors, including general economic conditions, actual and
expected credit losses, historical trends and specific conditions
of the individual borrower.

Provision for loan losses was $1.0 million and $444,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2003 was $4.3 mil-
lion compared to $3.4 million at December 31, 2002. Qur
allowance for loan loss ratio at December 31, 2003 was 1.29%
compared to 1.35% at December 31, 2002. The decrease in
the allowance for loan loss ratio is primarily reflective of the
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shift in the loan mix in our portfolio. Our growth in the loan
portfolio was mostly comprised of increases in our residential
and commercial real estate loans and home equity loan port-
folios, which require lower reserve coverage than other portions
of the loan portfolio. We continued to experience strong loan
quality with annualized net charged-off loans equal to 0.01%
to average loans receivable for the year ended December 31,
2003, and nonperforming loans equal to 0.12% of total loans as
of December 31, 2003.

Provision for loan losses was $444,000 for 2002, compared to
$1.2 million for 2001. The growth in loans during 2002 was
comprised primarily of increases in our residential and home
equity loan portfolios, which require lower reserve amounts
than the remainder of the loan portfolio.

The allowance for loan losses increased to $3.4 million at
December 31, 2002 from $3.1 million at December 31, 2001.
The ratio of the allowance for loan losses to total loans, net
of fees, at December 31, 2002 was 1.35% compared to 1.54% at
December 31, 2001. We experienced loan charge-offs of
$117,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002 offset by recov-
eries of $15,000. We had no charge-offs prior to 2002.

See “Critical Accounting Policies” found earlier in this discus-
sion for more information on our allowance for loan losses
methodology.

The following tables contain additional information pertaining
to the calculation and allocation of the allowance for loan
losses by loan type and the percentage of the loan type to the
total loan portfolio.

Table 5
Allowance for Loan Losses

fffff (Dollars.in- thousands)- - - . : : . - N PUUH
2003

T720027 72001 T 20000 0 1999

December 31

Beginning balance, January 1 $ 3,372 $ 3,104 $ 1,900 $ 726 $ 212
Provision for loan losses 1,001 444 1,202 753 514
Transfer to liability on unfunded commitments — (74) —_ — —

Assumed allowance for loan losses from acquisition ‘
of Heritage Bancorp, Inc. — — — 421 —
Loans charged off:

Commercial and industrial (74) (63) — — —
Real estate—commercial — — — — —
Real estate—construction _ — — — —
Real estate—residential — —_— — — —
Home equity lines — — — —_ —
Consumer (6) (54) — —_ —
Total loans charged off (80) (117) — —_ —_
Recoveries: !
Commercial and industrial 43 12 2 — —
Real estate—commercial _ — _ — —
Real estate—construction _— — — — —
Real estate—residential ‘ - — —_ — —
Home equity lines — — — — —
Consumer 8 . 3 — — —
Total recoveries 51 | 15 2 — —
Net (charge-offs) recoveries ‘ (29) (102) 2 — —
Ending balance, December 31, $ 4344 $ 3372 $ 3,104 $ 1,900 $ 726
Loans: 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Balance at year end | $336,002 $249,106  $200,911  $154,271  $68,167
Allowance for loan losses to loans receivable, net of fees 1.29% - 1.35% 1.54% 1.23% 1.07%
Net charge-offs to average loans receivable 0.01% - 0.05% —% —% —%
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Table 6
Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses
(Dollars in thousands)

At December 31 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
% of % of % of % of % of

Allocation  Total* Allocation Total* Allocation Total* Allocation Total* Allocation Total*
Commercial and industrial ;  $1,046 17.21% 1 $1,301 23.40% $1,149 28.71% $ 612 32.22% $241 33.10%
Real estate—commercial 1,662 41.56 1,386 46.63 1,270 43,37 678 37.05 211 29.03
Real estate—construction 497 12.57 19 2.32 34 3.18 50 2.65 9 1.28
Real estate—residential 418 12.64 241 12.77 98 7.20 181 11.51 126 17.39
Home equity lines 486 1284 201 10.77 176 10.60 126 9.65 40 5.54
Consumer 235 3.18 224 4.11 377 6.94 253 6.92 99 13.66

Total allowance for

loan losses $4,344  100.00% $3,372

100.00%

$3,104  100.00% $1,900  100.00% $726 100.00%

*Percentage of loan type to the total loan portfolio.

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income includes service charges on deposits and
loans, investment fee income and gains on sales of investment
securities available-for-sale and continues to be an important
factor in our operating results. Non-interest income for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $3.8 million and
$2.9 million, respectively. The increase in non-interest income
for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to the same
period of 2002, is primarily the result of increased securities
gains related to sales of certain securities from the investment
securities available-for-sale portfolio. These gains were recorded
on sales of mortgage-backed securities with accelerated prepay-
ment speeds, which were a result of the lower rate environment
experienced during the past year. In addition, net gains on the
sales of loans for the year ended December 31, 2003, was
$282,000 compared to $74,000 for the same period of 2002,
representing an increase of $208,000. These gains were the
result of sales of mortgage loans through a loan sales program
that began in March 2003. Offsetting the increases in securities
gains and the loan sales gain was a decrease of $155,000 in

Non-interest income was $2.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to $3.2 million for the same period
of 2001. Investment fee income decreased by $1.0 million to
$940,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared
to $1.9 million in 2001. The decrease in investment fee income
during 2002 as compared to 2001 is a result of reduced trans-
action activity and decreased assets under management experi-
enced during 2002. Due to our increased number of deposit
accounts, service charges on deposit accounts increased
$113,000 to $511,000 during 2002 as compared to $398,000 in
2001. We had net securities gains of $524,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2002 compared to none during 2001.

The following table provides additional detail on non-interest
income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001.

Table 7

Non-Interest Income

(Dollars in thousands)

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001

Service charges on

investment fee income for the year ended December 31, 2003, deposit accounts $ 631 $ 511 § 398
compared to the same period in 2002. Investment fee income Loan service charges 382 392 433
decreased in 2003 compared to 2002 as a result of the conver- Investment fee income 785 940 1,941
sion from Legg Mason, Inc. to Raymond James Financial Net gain on sales of loans 282 74 49
Services, Inc., which caused a temporary decline in transaction Net realized gain on investment
activity during the second quarter of 2003. securities available-for-sale 1,364 524 _
Due to our increased number of deposit accounts, service Net gain on sales of assets - 39 18
charges on deposit accounts increased $120,000 to $631,000 for ATM transaction fees - 107 100 92
“the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to $511,000 for Credit card fees . 46 46 39
the year ended December 31, 2002. Check order fees 53 101 62
Other income Co 1790 137 125
Total non-interest income $3,829 $2,864 $3,157
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Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense includes salaries and benefits, occupancy,
professional fees and depreciation. Non-interest expense was
$15.4 million and $13.6 million for the years ended December
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, an increase of $1.8 million, or
12.9%. The increase in non-interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared to 2002, is primarily a result of
the branch expansion that has occurred over the past twelve
months. We opened our eighth branch in Arlington during the
fourth quarter of 2002, our ninth branch in Tysons Corner
during the third quarter of 2003, and our tenth and eleventh
branches in Leesburg and Woodbridge during the fourth quar-
ter of 2003. Expenses related to the branch expansion are rep-
resented in the increases in our salaries and benefits expense
and occupancy expense. Expenses have also increased in pro-
fessional fees, marketing and advertising, and loan expenses
to support our branch openings and strong asset growth over
the past year. We expect non-interest expense to continue to
increase going forward as we continue our branch expansion
in 2004. We opened our twelfth branch office in Herndon,
Virginia in February 2004.

Non-interest expense was $13.6 million and $23.8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
decrease in non-interest expense of $10.2 million, or 42.7%
for 2002 compared to 2001 resulted mostly from a charge of
$8.3 million during the fourth quarter of 2001 that substan-
tially eliminated the goodwill attributed to the purchase of
Heritage Bancorp, Inc. Also, during 2001, we made the decision
to consolidate our four banks to one to simplify our structure
and reduce costs. Consequently, included in non-interest
expense for 2001 is approximately $884,000 in non-recurring
costs associated with the restructuring.

During the second quarter of 2002, we recorded an other than
temporary impairment of $1.7 million on an investment in a
WorldCom bond. Excluding the effect of the previously men-
tioned impairment of goodwill associated with the Heritage
Bancorp acquisition and the $1.7 million impairment write-
down of the WorldCom bond in 2002, total non-interest
expense, which was $13.6 million and $23.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, under
generally accepted accounting principles, would have been
$11.9 million and $15.5 million for the years ended December
31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. This substantial decline of $3.6

million in non-interest expense was due primarily to decreases
in salaries and benefits expense, as well as discontinuation of
goodwill amortization in 2002 due to the implementation
of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and
reflects tighter expense controls and improved efficiencies
after the consolidation from a multi-bank structure to a one-
bank organization.

The following table reflects the components of non-interest
expense for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Table 8
Non-Interest Expense
(Dollars in thousands)

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001
~ Salary and benefits ' $6726 $5715 $ 7,731
Occupancy 1,559 972 1,263
Professional fees 1,113 : 1,011 705
Depreciation 1,030 ; 736 804
Amortization and write- ‘ |
down of intangibles ‘ — 22 8,907
Writedown on corporate bond — 1,660 —
Data processing 835 ' 759 957
Stationery and supplies ‘ 387 | 317 306
Brokerage clearing ‘ 186 206 370
Advertising and marketing ‘ 913 541 368
Telecommunications 396 276 325
Other taxes , 456 342 269
Travel and entertainment 148 127 164
Bank operations | 569 411 875
Premises and equipment ‘ 351 271 247
Miscellaneous 686 239 465
Total non-interest expense . $15,355 « $13,605 $23,756

Income Taxes

We recorded an income tax benefit of $3.5 million in the
fourth quarter of 2003 attributable to the recognition of
deferred tax assets related to the net operating loss carryfor-
wards. The benefit or our deferred tax asset was recognized
based on a detailed assessment indicating that it is more likely
than not that the benefit of these net operating losses would be
realized. Factors that were considered in our decision to record
our income tax benefit were 2003 profitability, future projec-
tions of continued profitability and the completion of our
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common stock offering in December 2003. For more informa-
tion, see “Critical Accounting Policies” earlier in this discussion.
In addition, Footnote 9 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides additional information with respect to the
deferred tax accounts and the net operating loss carryforward.

Statements of Condition

Loans Receivable, Net

We have detailed policies and procedures that cover both com-
mercial and consumer loan origination and management of
credit risk. Loans are underwritten in a manner that focuses
on the borrower’s ability to repay. Our goal is not to avoid risk,
but to manage it and to include credit risk as part of the pricing
decision for each product.

Total loans receivable, net of fees, were $336.0 million at
December 31, 2003, an increase of $86.9 million, or 34.9%,
compared to December 31, 2002. We achieved growth in all
our loan categories with the exception of our commercial and
industrial loans. Commercial and industrial loans decreased
$438,000 as a result of experiencing more loan payoffs than
fundings in this loan category. In 2002, we established a sepa-
rate retail lending group, creating competitive home equity
products. In addition, we created a separate commercial real
estate lending group that has allowed us to increase our loan
production in this portion of our loan portfolio.

Loans receivable accounted for on a non-accrual basis at
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 were $390,000 and
$917,000, respectively. Accruing loans, which are contractu-
ally past due 90 days or more as to principal or interest
payments as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
were $4,000 and $59,000, respectively. There are no loans as
of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 included above
which are “troubled debt restructurings” as defined in SFAS
No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt
Restructurings.

Interest income on non-accrual loans, if recognized, is recorded
using the cash basis method of accounting. When a loan is
placed on non-accrual, unpaid interest is reversed against

interest income if it was accrued in the current year and is
charged to the allowance for loan losses if it was accrued in
prior years. While on non-accrual, the collection of interest is
recorded as interest income only after all principal has been
collected. When all past contractual obligations are collected
and, in our opinion, the borrower has demonstrated the ability
to remain current, the loan is returned to an accruing status.
Gross interest income that would have been recorded if the
nonaccrual loans had been current with their original terms
and had been outstanding throughout the period or since
origination if held for part of the period for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $39,000 and $37,000,
respectively. The interest income realized prior to the loans
being placed on nonaccrual status for the years ended December
31, 2003 and 2002 were $1,000 and $28,000, respectively.

Total loans receivable, net of fees, increased $48.2 million to
$249.1 million at December 31, 2002, as compared to December
31, 2001. The strongest growth was in commercial real estate
loans and residential real estate loans.

Loans receivable accounted for on a non-accrual basis at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $917,000 and $361,000,
respectively. Accruing loans, which are contractually past due
90 days or more as to principal or interest payments as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, were $59,000 and $566,000,
respectively. There are no loans as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 included above which are “troubled debt restructurings”
as defined in SFAS No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors
for Troubled Debt Restructurings. Gross interest income that
would have been recorded if the nonaccrual loans had been
current with their original terms and had been outstanding
throughout the period or since origination if held for part of
the period for 2002 and 2001 was $37,000 and $17,000, respec-
tively. The interest income realized prior to the loans being
placed on nonaccrual status for 2002 was $28,000.

Specific reserves of $21,500 were recorded in 2002 for one of
the non-accrual loans. At December 31, 2002 the ratio of non-
performing loans to total loans was 0.39% as compared to
0.46% at December 31, 2001.
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The following tables represent the characteristics of our loans receivable portfolio as of December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000 and
1999, additional information on nonperforming loans receivable, and information on loan maturities and interest rate sensitivity.

Table 9
Loans Receivable
(Dollars in thousands)

At December 31 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Commercial and industrial $ 57,854 17.21% $ 58,292 23.40% $ 57,665 28.71% $ 49,646  32.22%  $22,358 33.10%
Real estate—commercial 139,725  41.56 116,135  46.63 87,116  43.37 57,083  37.05 19,780  29.03
Real estate—construction 42,243 12.57 5,781 2.32 6,397 3.18 4,088 2.65 870 1.28
Real estate—residential 42,495 12.64 31,808 12.77 14,469 7.20 17,729 11.51 11,851 17.39
Home equity lines 43,176 12.84 26,831 10.77 21,299 10.60 14,867 9.65 3,777 5.54
Consumer 10,690 3.18 10,235 4,11 13,941 6.94 10,665 6.92 9,311 13.66
Gross loans $336,183 100.00% $249,082 100.00% $200,887 100.00% $154,078 100.00% $68,147 100.00%
Add: net deferred (fees) costs (181) 24 24 193 20

Less: allowance for loan losses (4,344) (3,372) (3,104) (1,900) (726)

Loans receivable, net $331,658 : $245,734 $197,807 $152,371 $67,441

Table 10

Nonperforming Loans Receivable
(Dollars in thousands)

At December 31 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Nonaccruing loans  $390 . $917 $361 3585 $—
Loans contractually past-due 90 days or more 4 59 566 2 —
Troubled debt restructurings — — — - —
Total nonperforming loans receivable $394 . $976 $927 $587 $—
Table 11

Loan Maturities and Interest Rate Sensitivity Between

(Dollars in thousands) One Year Oneand After

At December 31, 2003 or Less FiveYears Five Years Total
Commercial and industrial $145,776 $21,542 $30,080  $197,398
Residential 7,176 16,187 19,132 42,495
Home equity lines 43,176 — — 43,176
Construction 37,704 4,539 — 42,243
Consumer 5,712 801 4,177 10,690
Total loans receivable $239,544  $43,069 $53,389  $336,002
Fixed-rate loans ' $32,943  $51,900 $ 84,843
Floating-rate loans 10,126 1,489 11,615
Total loans receivable _ $43,069 $53,389 $ 96,458
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Investment Securities

Our investment securities portfolio is used as a source of
income and liquidity. Investment securities were $273.6 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003, an increase of $109.9 million or
67.2%, compared to investment securities at December 31,
2002. Increases in the investment securities portfolio were
a result of the strong deposit growth and increases in other
borrowed funds.

During the third quarter of 2003, we transferred a portion of the
available-for-sale investment securities portfolio to held-to-
maturity. These securities are mostly pledged as collateral for
Federal Home Loan Bank advances and our customer repur-
chase agreements. Of the $273.6 million investment portfolio,
$142.9 million are classified as held-to-maturity and $130.8
million are classified as available-for-sale. We had no held-to-
maturity investment securities at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

During the third quarter of 2003, we implemented a $25.0
million leverage strategy that allowed us to take advantage of

the availability of low cost funds through advances from the
Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta and purchase mortgage-
backed investment securities. The impact of this strategy is an
increase of approximately $100,000 in net interest income on a
quarterly basis.

Investment securities available-for-sale increased to $163.7
million at December 31, 2002, compared to $34.1 million at
December 31, 2001. Strong deposit growth and the proceeds of
our two common stock offerings during 2002 made more
funds available for investments. The portfolio yield decreased
from 6.22% as of December 31, 2001 to 4.43% as of December
31, 2002 due to higher yielding investments having matured,
been called or sold for a net realized gain and purchases
of additional investments during 2002 yielding lower rates.
During the second quarter of 2002, we experienced an impair-
ment on an investment in a WorldCom bond that resulted in a
charge to non-interest expense of $1.7 million.

The following table reflects the composition of the investment portfolio as of December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001.

Table 12

Investment Securities

(Dollars in thousands)

At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Amortized Fair Average
Available-for-sale at December 31, 2003 Cost Value Yield
Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises
One to five years $ 3,000 $ 3,016 3.92%
Five to ten years 2,000 1,986 4.23
After ten years 1,000 1,027 5.79
Total U.S. government agencies $ 6,000 $ 6,029 4.33%
Mortgage-backed securities*
Five to ten years $ 15,615 $ 15630 3.92%
After ten years 97,865 97,041  4.02
Total mortgage-backed securities $113,480 $112,671 4.00%
Corporate bonds
After ten years $ 10,000 $ 9,995 2.41%
Total corporate bonds $ 10,000 $ 9,995 2.41%
Treasury bonds
One to five years $ 2,047 $ 2,067 2.64%
Total treasury bonds $ 2,047 $ 2,067 2.64%
Total investment securities available-for-sale $131,527  $130,762 3.87%

*Based on contractual maturities.
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Amortized Fair Average
Held-to-maturity at December 31, 2003 Cost Value Yield
Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises
One to five years $ 4000 $ 3951 3.39%
Five to ten years 9,993 9,884 4.65
After ten years 2,999 2,950 4.20
Total U.S. government agencies $ 16,992 $ 16,785 4.27%
Mortgage-backéd securities™
Five to ten years $ 9476 $ 9450 3.70%
After ten vears 108,384 107,547 4.01
Total mortgage-backed securities $117,860  $116,997 3.98%
Corporate bonds
After ten years $ 8000 $ 7,848 4.21%
Total corporate bonds $ 8000 . $. 7,848 . 421% ..
Total investment securities held-to-maturity $142,852  $141,630 4.03%
Total investment securities $274,379  $272,392  3.96%
Amortized Fair Average
Available-for-sale at December 31, 2002 Cost Value Yield
Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises
One to five years $ 26,739 $ 26,988 3.47%
Five to ten years 12,048 12,048  3.68
Total U.S. government agencies $ 38,787  $ 39,036 3.53%
Mortgage-backed securities*
Within one year $ 15,478 $ 15,750  3.61%
One to five years 70,552 72,342 4.82
Five to ten years 13,695 13,686  4.43
After ten years 15,301 15,301 5.20
Total mortgage-backed securities $115,026  $117,079  4.66%
Corporate bonds
After ten years $ 5000 $ 5000 3.39%
Total corporate bonds $ 5000 $ 5000 3.39%
Treasury bonds
One to five years $ 2,507 $§ 2,550 2.67%
Total treasury bonds $ 2,507 $§ 2,550 2.67%
Total investment securities available-for-sale $161,320  $163,665  4.33%

- *Based on contractual maturities.
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Amortized Fair Average
Available-for-sale at December 31, 2001 Cost Value Yield
Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises
One to five years $ 298 $ 2950 4.15%
Five to ten years 1,516 1,508  4.67
Total U.S. government agencies $ 4501 $ 4,458 4.32%
Mortgage-backed securities*
Within one year $ 182 $§ 183 255%
One to five years 11,456 11,383  5.22
Five to ten years 5,927 5,865  5.79
After ten years 4,965 4,926 5.96
Total mortgage-backed securities $ 22,530  $ 22,357 5.51%
Corporate bonds
One to five years $ 6,154 $ 6,114 5.42%
Five to ten years 986 969  6.98
Total corporate bonds $ 7,140 $ 7,083 5.64%
Treasury bonds
One to five years $ 250 $ 249 1.87%
Total treasury bonds $ 250 $ 249 1.87%
Total investment securities available-for-sale $ 34,421  § 34,147 5.36%

*Based on contractual maturities,

Deposits and Other Borrowed Funds
Total deposits were $474.1 million at December 31, 2003, an
increase of $50.7 million, or 12.0%, compared to December 31,
2002. This growth is attributable to aggressive promotion of
our products through advertising and direct mail in addition to
three branch openings during 2003.

Other borrowed funds were $74.5 million at December 31,
2003, an increase of $72.5 million, compared to December 31,
2002. During the second quarter of 2003, we introduced a
repurchase agreement program for those commercial cus-
tomers that leave larger balances in their demand deposit
accounts, allowing them to earn 0.75% on balances deposited
in this program. Repurchase agreements at December 31, 2003
were $25.5 million. These funds were invested in investment
securities, allowing us to increase our net interest income and
improve our interest rate sensitivity position.

The remaining portion of other borrowed funds at December
31, 2003, were advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Atlanta. Due to interest rates on these advances being at their
lowest levels in several years, we borrowed $47.0 million during
the year ended December 31, 2003. These advances bear fixed
interest rates ranging from 1.23% to 2.81% and have scheduled
maturities from January 20, 2004 through July 14, 2008.

The following table reflects the short-term borrowings out-
standing as of December 31, 2003.

Table 13

Short-Term Borrowings
(Dollars in thousands)
At December 31, 2003

Date
Advance Interest Term of  Amount
Date Rate Advance Due Outstanding

Jan-03 1.63% 12 months Jan-04 $ 2,000
Jan-03 1.72 12 months  Jan-04 2,000
Mar-03 1.54 12 months  Mar-04 1,000
Mar-03 1.65 12 months Mar-04 2,000
Aug-03 1.31 5months  Jan-04 2,000
Aug-03 1.36 6 months  Feb-04 2,000
Dec-03 1.23 12 months  Dec-04 5,000
1.44% $16,000
All other borrowed funds $58,457
Total other borrowed funds $74,457

_=712003
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Total deposits at December 31, 2002 were $423.5 million com-
pared to $246.0 million at December 31, 2001, an increase
of $177.5 million, or 72.1%. Other borrowed funds decreased
$7.8 million to $2.0 million at December 31, 2002, compared
to $9.8 million at December 31, 2001. During 2002, we paid off
$7.8 million in Federal Home Loan Bank advances due to
increased liquidity from deposit growth.

The following table reflects the maturities of the certificates of
deposit of $100,000 or more as of December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001.

Table 14

Certificates of Deposit of $100,000 or More
(Dollars in thousands)
At December 31 2003

2002 2001

Maturities:
Three months or less
Over three months through

$ 19,467 $10,759 §$ 9,531

six months 11,463 8,716 8,046

Over six months through
twelve months 38,107 15,523 16,855
Over twelve months 34,563 45,214 25,349
- $103,600 - $80,212  $59,781

Business Segment Operations

We provide banking and non-banking financial services and
products through our subsidiaries. Management operates and
reports on the results of our operations through two business
segments, commercial banking and investment services.

Commercial Banking

The commercial banking segment provides a wide range of
banking services to small businesses and individuals through
multiple delivery channels. Services offered include commer-
cial and consumer lending, deposit products, and banking via
the internet or telephone.
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For the year ended December 31, 2003, the commercial bank-
ing segment recorded net income of $4.2 million, compared to
a loss of $16,000 during the same period of 2002, an improve-
ment of $4.2 million. The improvement in earnings is a result
of increased net interest income, due to increased volume of
earning assets, as well as an increase in non-interest income
due to realized gains on investment securities available-for-
sale, for this segment. In addition, the writedown of the bond
impairment was recognized in this business segment during
the second quarter of 2002. Also, a portion of the income
tax benefit of $464,000 was recorded in this segment during the
fourth quarter of 2003.

As of December 31, 2003, total assets were $630.4 million,
loans receivable, net were $331.7 million and total deposits
were $474.1 million. As of December 31, 2002, total assets were
$483.1 million, loans receivable, net were $245.7 million and
total deposits were $423.5 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the commercial bank-
ing segment had a net loss of $16,000, compared to a net loss of
$10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
decrease in the net loss for 2002 is a result of increased earning
assets and lower operating expenses. The results for 2001
included both the amortization and impairment recognition in
goodwill, while the results for 2002 did not include goodwill.
Net interest income, as our primary source of revenue, for the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $10.6 million
and $9.1 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, total assets were $483.1
million and $277.9 million, respectively. Loans receivable, net as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $245.7 million and $197.8
million, respectively. Total deposits as of December 31, 2002
and 2001 were $423.5 million and $246.0 million, respectively.

Investment Services

The investment services segment provides investment and finan-
cial services, through an affiliation with a third party broker-
dealer. Operations for this segment began February 1, 1999.
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For the year ended December 31, 2003, this segment reported a
net income of $466,000, compared to a net loss of $205,000 for
the same period of 2002, an improvement of $671,000. The
increase in net income is mostly attributable to the income tax
benefit of $443,000 recorded in this segment during the fourth
quarter of 2003. Pretax income for year ended December 31,
2003 was $23,000. As of December 31, 2003, total assets were
$776,000 and, at December 31, 2002, were $274,000.

For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the invest-
ment services segment reported net losses of $205,000 and
$87,000, respectively. Investment fee income, as the primary
source of revenue for this reporting segment, for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $942,000 and $1.9
million, respectively. Investment fee income decreased during
2002 as compared to prior periods as a result of reduced trans-
action activity and decreased assets under management experi-
enced during 2002. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, total
assets were $274,000 and $420,000, respectively.

Information pertaining to both business segments can be
found in Footnote 15 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Capital Resources

Capital adequacy is an important measure of financial stability
and performance. Our objectives are to maintain a level of cap-
italization that is sufficient to sustain asset growth and promote
depositor and investor confidence.

Regulatory agencies measure capital adequacy utilizing a for-
mula that takes into account the individual risk profile of
a financial institution. The guidelines define capital as both
Tier 1 (primarily common shareholders’ equity, defined to
include certain debt obligations) and Tier 2 (to include certain
other debt obligations and a portion of the allowance for loan
losses and 45% of unrealized gains in equity securities).

At December 31, 2003, shareholders’ equity was $85.4 million
compared to $40.7 million at December 31, 2002, an increase
of $44.7 million. This increase in shareholders’ equity was pri-
marily driven by our completion of a secondary common stock
offering that raised $41.7 million in capital in December 2003.
In addition, we recorded net income to common shareholders
of $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. These
increases were offset by an unfavorable mark-to-market adjust-
ment of $2.9 million in our investment securities available-for-
sale portfolio. Book value per common share at December 31,
2003 was $4.80, compared to $3.37 at December 31, 2002.
Tangible book value per common share at December 31, 2003
was $4.80, compared to $3.31 at December 31, 2002. At
December 31, 2003, our tier 1 and total risk-based capital
ratios were 19.7% and 20.7%, respectively. At December 31,
2002, our tier I and total risk-based capital ratios were 12.3%
and 13.4%, respectively. Our regulatory capital levels for the
bank and bank holding company exceed the minimum ratios
established for well-capitalized institutions.

At December 31, 2002, shareholders’ equity was $40.7 million
compared to $20.6 million at December 31, 2001. The increase
in shareholders’ equity is the result of our second quarter 2002
rights and secondary common stock offerings, which raised
$18.5 million in new capital. In addition, changes in unrealized
gains on investment securities available-for-sale amounted
to $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
increases in common stock and other comprehensive income
offset the preferred dividends paid and the net loss for 2002.
Book value per common share as December 31, 2002 and 2001
was $3.37 and $3.21, respectively.
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The following table shows the minimum capital requirement and our capital position at December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 for the
consolidated bank holding company. Our regulatory capital levels for the bank and bank holding company meet those established
for well-capitalized institutions.

To Be Well
Table 15 Capitalized Under
Capital Components For Capital Prompt Corrective
(Dollars in thousands) Actual Adequacy Purposes  Action Provisions

Amount  Ratio Amount  Ratio Amount Ratio

At December 31, 2003

Total risk-based capital/Total capital to risk-weighted assets $90,239  20.66%  $34,951> 8.00% $43,688 = 10.00%
Tier I capital/Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets 85,896  19.66% 17,4752 4.00% 26,2132  6.00%
Total risk-based capital/Total capital to average assets | 85,896 15.45% 23,3652 4.00% 29,206 5.00%
At December 31, 2002

Total risk-based capital/Total capital to risk-weighted assets $41,093 13.35%  $24,625> 8.00%  3$30,781 = 10.00%
Tier I capital/Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets 37,721 12.25% 12,3132 4.00%  18,4692>  6.00%
Total risk-based capital/Total capital to average assets 37,721 8.97% 18,3302 4.00% 153912 5.00%
At December 31, 2001

Total risk-based capital/Total capital to risk-weighted assets $23,333  10.42% $17,9092> 8.00%  $22,387 = 10.00%
Tier I capital/Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets 20,230 9.04% 8,9552 4.00% 13,4322 6.00%
Total risk-based capital/Total capital to average assets 20,230  8.57% 10,891 >  4.00% 13,6142 5.00%
Liquidity

The objective of liquidity management is to ensure the continuous availability of funds to meet the demands of depositors, investors
and borrowers. Stable core deposits and a strong capital position are the current components of a solid foundation for our liquidity
position. In addition, the availability of regional and national wholesale funding sources including federal funds purchased, negotiable
certificates of deposit, securities sold under agreements to repurchase, and borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank enhance
our liquidity. Cash flows from operations, such as loan payments and payoffs are also a significant source of liquidity. We have a con-
tingency plan that provides for continued monitoring of liquidity needs and available sources of liquidity. We believe we have the
ability to meet our increased liquidity needs. Liquid assets, which include cash and due from banks, federal funds sold and investment
securities available-for-sale, at December 31, 2003, totaled $143.8 million, or 22.6% of total assets. We have investment securities that

are classified as held-to-maturity of $142.9 million at December 31, 2003. We have $177.5 million of our investment securities portfolio

pledged as collateral for our other borrowed funds at December 31, 2003. Management is committed to maintaining liquidity at a
level sufficient to protect depositors, provide for reasonable growth and fully comply with all regulatory requirements.

Contractual Obligations

We have entered into a number of long-term contractual obligations to support our ongoing activities. These contractual obligations
will be funded through operating revenues and liquidity sources held or available to us. The required payments under such obliga-
tions were as follows:

Table 16 ‘ Payments Due by Period

(Dollars in thousands) Less than 1-2 3-5 More than
At December 31, 2003 Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more $103,600 369,037 $22,889 $11,674 $ —
Advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta 48,958 24,500 13,250 11,208 —
Operating lease obligations 12,400 1,962 4,091 5,538 809
Total $164,958 $95,499  $40,230  $28,420 $809
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Quarterly Data
The following table provides quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Quarterly per share results may not
calculate to the year end per share results due to rounding.

Table 17
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31 2003

Fourth Third Second First

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Interest income $ 6,864 $6,179 $ 5,787 $ 5,772
Interest expense 2,432 2,341 2,343 2,313
Net interest income 4,432 3,838 3,444 3,459
Provision for loan losses (399) (356) (166) (80)
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 4,033 3,482 3,278 3,379
Non-interest income 833 971 1,049 976
Non-interest expense 4,148 3,684 3,658 3,865
Net income before income taxes 718 769 669 490
Income tax benefit (3,508) — _— —
Net income $ 4,226 $ 769 $ 669 $ 490
Dividends to preferred shareholders 123 124 124 124
Net income to common shareholders $ 4103 $ 645 $ 545 $ 366
Earnings per common share, basic "$ 038 $006 $ 005 $ 0.04
Earnings per common share, diluted $ 037 $006 $ 005 $ 004

2002

Fourth Third Second First

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Interest income $ 5,325 $5,484 $ 5,039 $ 4,394
Interest expense 2,544 2,643 2,379 2,020
Net interest income 2,781 2,841 2,660 2,374
Provision for loan losses _(310) (95) (39) —
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 2,471 2,746 2,621 2,374
Non-interest income 971 634 551 708
Non-interest expense 3,234 2,951 4,400 3,020
Net income (loss) before income taxes 208 429 (1,228) 62
Provision for income taxes — — — —
Net income (loss) $ 208 $ 429  $(1,228) §$ 62
Dividends to preferred shareholders 123 124 124 124
Net income (loss) to common shareholders $ 85 $ 305 $(1,352) % (62)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share $003 $ (0.18) $ (0.0

$ 0.01
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Cardinal Financial Corporation and subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of
condition of Cardinal Financial Corporation and subsidiaries
(the Company) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsi-
bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stand-
ards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examin-
ing, on a test basis, evidence supporting amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cardinal Financial Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

KPMe LLP

McLean, Virginia
January 14, 2004



Consolidated Statements of Condition

December 31 2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
Assets .
Cash and due from banks ~$ 9,555 $ 27,465
Federal funds sold 3,528 35,906
Total cash and cash equivalents 13,083 63,371
Investment securities available-for-sale 130,762 . 163,665
Investment securities held-to-maturity 142,852 —_
Total investment securities 273,614 163,665
Other investments 3,517 - 1,615
Loans receivable, net of fees 336,002 249,106
Allowance for loan losses (4,344) (3,372)
Loans receivable, net 331,658 245,734
Premises and equipment, net 6,707 4,942
Deferred tax asset 4,473 —_
Goodwill 22 646
Accrued interest and other assets ‘ 3,174 6,350
Total assets - $636,248  $486,323
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity |
Deposits $474,129  $423,479
Other borrowed funds 74,457 2,000
Accrued interest and other liabilities 2,250 20,132
Total liabilities 550,836 445,611
Preferred stock, $1 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized;
Series A preferred stock, cumulative convertible, 1,364,062 and
1,364,684 shares outstanding in 2003 and 2002, respectively 1,364 1,365
Common stock, $1 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized;
16,377,337 and 10,044,345 shares outstanding in 2003
and 2002, respectively 16,377 10,044
Additional paid-in capital 86,790 - 51,231
Accumulated deficit (18,614)  (24,273)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (505) 2,345
Total shareholders’ equity 85,412 40,712
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity © $636,248 - $486,323

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001

(In thousands, except per share data)
Interest income: :
Loans receivable . $16,851 $14,798 $ 14,973

Federal funds sold ) : 107 | 871 1,085
Investment securities available-for-sale ' 5,026 ¢ 4,501 437
Investment securities held-to-maturity 2,483 — —
Other investments ‘ 135 72 82
Total interest income 24,602 20,242 16,577
Interest expense: ( :
Deposits . 8,656 . 9,364 7,027
Other borrowed funds 773 222 473
Total interest expense - 9429 9,586 7,500
Net interest income 15,173 = 10,656 9,077
Provision for loan losses 1,001 444 1,202
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 14,172 10,212 7,875
Non-interest income:
Service charges on deposit accounts 631 511 398
Loan service charges : 382 392 433
Investment fee income 785 940 1,941
Net gain on sales of loans B 282 74 49
Net realized gain on investment securities available-for-sale 1,364 524 —
Net gain on sales of assets : — 39 18
Other income 385 384 318
Total non-interest income 3,829 2,864 3,157
Non-interest expense: ‘
Salary and benefits 6,726 5,715 7,731
Occupancy + 1,559 ¢ 972 1,263
Professional fees © L1130 1,01t 705
Depreciation - L030 736 804
Writedown on corporate bond ‘ — 1,660 —
Amortization and writedown of intangibles ‘ — 22 8,907
Other operating expenses © 4927 - 3489 4,346
Total non-interest expense . 15,355 13,605 23,756
Net income (loss) before income taxes © 2,646 (529) (12,724)
Income tax benefit - (3,508) — —
Net income (loss) $ 6,154  $ (529) $(12,724)
Dividends to preferred shareholders : 495 495 503
Net income (loss) to common shareholders $ 5,659 . $(1,024) $(13,227)
Earnings (loss) per common share-—basic $ 055 $ (0.13) $ (3.11)
Earnings (loss) per common share-—diluted ‘ '$ 054 $ (0.13) $ (3.11)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding—basic 10,218 7,949 4,258
Weighted-average common shares outstanding—diluted 10,445 7,949 4,258

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands)
Net income (loss) $ 6,154 - $(529) $(12,724)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investment securities:

Unrealized holding gain (loss) arising during the year, net of tax (1,950) 3,143 (278)
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income (loss), net of tax 900 524 —
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 3,304 $2,090 $(13,002)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Additional Other
Preferred Preferred Common Common  Paid-in  Accumulated Comprehensive
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 Shares Stock Shares Stock Capital Deficit Income {Loss) Total

(In thousands)
Balance, December 31, 2000 1,411  $1,411 4253 $ 4,253 $38466  $(10,022) $ 4 $ 34,112
Issuance of stock awards — — 3 3 3 — —_ 6
Stack options exercised — — 3 3 8 — — 11
Dividends on preferred stock — — — — — (503) — (503)
Preferred stock converted to common stock {46) {46} 35 35 11 — — —
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on investment

securities available-for-sale — — — — — — (278) (278)
Net loss — — — — —  (12,724) — (12,724)
Balance, December 31, 2001 1,365  $1,365 4294 § 4294 $38,488  $(23,249) $ (274) $ 20,624
Rights offering shares issued — — 2437 2437 5462 — — 7,899
Public offering shares issued — — 3,313 3,313 7,281 — — 10,594
Dividends on preferred stock —_ — — —_ — (495) — (495)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on investment

securities available-for-sale — — — — — — 2,619 2,619
Net loss —_ — — — — (529) — {(529)
Balance, December 31, 2002 1,365  §1,365 10,044 $10,044 $51,231  $(24,273) $ 2,345 $ 40,712
Stock options exercised — — 32 32 112 — — 144
Preferred stock converted to common stock (1) (1) 1 1 — — — —
Public offering shares issued — — 6,300 6,300 35,447 — — 41,747
Dividends on preferred stock — — — — — (495) — (495)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on investment

securities available-for-sale, net of tax — — — — — — (2,850) (2,850)
Net income — — — — — 6,154 — 6,154

: Balance, December 31, 2003 1,364 $1,364 16,377 $16,377 $86,790  $(18,614) $ (505) $ 85,412

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 6,154 § (529) $(12,724)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) ‘
operating activities: 1
Depreciation 1,030 736 804
Amortization and writedown of intangibles, premiums and discounts 2,137 1,120 8,960
Provision for loan losses 1,001 444 1,202
Originations of loans held for sale (32,697) (4,369) (15,807)
Proceeds from the sale of loans held for sale 32,979 . 9,175 11,124
Writedown on corporate bond —_— 1,660 —
Gain on sale of loans held for sale (282) (74) (49)
Gain on sale of investment securities available-for-sale (1,364) (524) —
Gain on sale of other assets —_ (39) (18)
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest, other assets, goodwill and deferred tax asset (673) (4,924) 117
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest and other liabilities (17,882) . 17,020 834
Compensation related to stock awards — — 6
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (9,597) 19,696 (5,551)
Cash flows from investing activities: ‘
Purchase of premises and equipment (2,795) (601) (501)
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment — — 28
Proceeds from sale, maturity and call of investment securities available-for-sale 97,614 - 42,034 4,500
Proceeds from sale of other investments 1,831 188 832
Purchase of investment securities available-for-sale (266,571)  (197,255) (34,101)
Purchase of investment securities held-to-maturity (8,021) — —_
Purchase of other investments (3,733) (535) (587)
Redemptions of investment securities available-for-sale 41,805 25,564 2,111
Redemptions of investment securities held-to-maturity 21,340 — —
Net increase in loans receivable (86,664) (47,808)  (46,458)
Net cash used in investing activities (205,194) (178,413) (74,176)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase in deposits 50,650 . 177,455 82,653
Net increase (decrease) in other borrowed funds 25,499 (24) (1,263)
Proceeds from FHLB advances—long term 59,000 1,000 3,800
Repayments from FHLB advances—long term (12,042) - (8,800) —_
Proceeds from rights offering — 7,899 —
Proceeds from public offering 41,747 10,594 —
Stock options exercised 144 — 11
Dividends on preferred stock (495) (495) (503)
Net cash provided by financing activities 164,503 | 187,629 84,698
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (50,288) 28,912 4,971
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 63,371 34,459 29,488
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 13,083 $ 63,371 $ 34,459
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: !
Cash paid during year for interest "$ 9380 $ 9491 $ 7,538

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Organization

Cardinal Financial Corporation (the “Company”) was in-
corporated November 24, 1997 under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia as a holding company whose activ-
ities consist of investment in its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
In addition to Cardinal Bank, N.A., which began operations in
1998, the Company opened the following three subsidiaries in
1999, Cardinal Wealth Services, Inc. an investment subsidiary
(as of February 1, 1999), Cardinal Bank—Manassas/Prince
William, N.A. (as of July 26, 1999), and Cardinal Bank—Dulles,
N.A. (as of August 2, 1999). On September 1, 2000, the
Company completed its acquisition of Heritage Bancorp, Inc.
and its banking subsidiary, The Heritage Bank, headquartered
in McLean, Virginia. The Heritage Bank was renamed and
became the Company’s fourth banking subsidiary, Cardinal
Bank—Potomac. On November 1, 2001, the Company consoli-
dated two of its banking subsidiaries, Cardinal Bank-—Dulles,
N.A. and Cardinal Bank—Potomac into Cardinal Bank, N.A.
On March 1, 2002, the Company consolidated Cardinal
Bank—Manassas/Prince William, N.A. into Cardinal Bank,
N.A,, the Company’s only remaining banking subsidiary.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosures of contingent assets and contingent liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the report-
ing period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to changes
in the near term are the allowance for loan losses, the valuation
of deferred tax assets, and the determination of impairment on
investment securities.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant inter-
company transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation.

{c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statements
of cash flows, the Company has defined cash and cash equiva-
lents as those amounts included in cash, due from banks, and
federal funds sold.

(d) Investment Securities

The Company classifies its debt and marketable equity securi-
ties in one of two categories: available-for-sale or held-to-
maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are those securities for
which the Company has the ability and intent to hold until
maturity. All other securities are classified as available-for-sale.

Held to maturity securities are held at cost. Available-for-sale
securities are recorded at fair value. Unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax if applicable, on available-for-sale securities
are reported in other comprehensive income (loss).

Gains and losses on the sale of securities are determined using
the specific identification method. Declines in the fair value of
individual held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities
below their cost that are deemed other than temporary are
charged to earnings as realized losses, resulting in the establish-
ment of a new cost basis for the security.

Premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income
using the effective interest method over the period to maturity.
Prepayment of the mortgages securing the mortgage-backed
securities may affect the maturity date and yield to maturity.
The Company uses actual principal prepayment experience
and estimates of future principal prepayments in calculating
the yield necessary to apply the effective interest method.

(e) Loans Receivable and Allowance for Loan Losses

Loans receivable that management has the intent and ability to
hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off are
reported at their outstanding principal balance adjusted for any
charge-offs, and net of the allowance for loan losses and any
deferred fees or costs. Loan origination fees and certain direct
origination costs are capitalized and amortized as an adjust-
ment of the yield of the related loan.

Loans are placed in nonaccrual status when they are past-due
90 days as to either principal or interest or when, in the opin-
ion of management, the collection of principal and interest is
in doubt. A loan remains in nonaccrual status until the loan
is current as to payment of both principal and interest or
past-due less than 90 days, and the borrower demonstrates
the ability to pay and remain current. Loans are charged-off
when a loan or a portion thereof is considered uncollectible.
When cash payments are received, they are applied to principal
first, then accrued interest. It is the Company’s policy not to
record interest income on nonaccrual {oans until principal has
become current.

The Company determines and recognizes impairment of cer-
tain loans when, based on current information and events, it
is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan
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agreement. A loan is not considered impaired during a period
of delay in payment if the Company expects to collect all
amounts due, including past-due interest. An impaired loan is
measured at the present value of its expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, or at the loan’s
observable market price or fair value of the collateral if the loan
is collateral dependent.

The allowance for loan losses is increased by provisions for
loan losses and decreased by charge-offs (net of recoveries).
Management’s periodic determination of the allowance is
based on the Company’s past loan loss experience, adverse
situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to repay,
the estimated value of any underlying collateral, and current
economic conditions. In addition, various regulatory agencies,
as an integral part of their examination process, periodically
review the Company’s allowance for loan losses. Such agen-
cies may require the Company to recognize additions to the
allowance based on their judgments about information avail-
able to them at the time of their examination. Management
believes that the current allowance for loan losses is a rea-
soniable estimate of known and inherent losses in the current
loan portfolio.

(f) Premises and Equipment

Land is carried at cost. Premises, furniture, equipment, and
leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of premises, fur-
niture and equipment is computed using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives from three to 10 years.
Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using
the straight-line method over the useful lives of the improve-
ments or the lease term, whichever is shorter.

(g) Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over
fair value of net assets acquired, is evaluated at least annually
for impairment by comparing its fair value with its recorded
amount and is written-down when appropriate. In 2003, the
Company evaluated impairment of goodwill under SFAS No.
142. The evaluation of goodwill under this statement did not
result in impairment of the goodwill for the year ended
December 31, 2003. However, as discussed in Footnote 19,
goodwill was reduced in 2003 as a result of the recognition of
deferred tax assets associated with net operating loss carryfor-
wards of an acquired entity.

(h) Investment Fee Income

Investment fee income represents commissions paid by cus-
tomers of Cardinal Wealth Services, Inc. for investment trans-
actions. Fees are recognized in income as they are earned.

(1) Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and labilities are reflected at currently
enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in which the
deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or
settled. As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for
income taxes.

(j) Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by divid-
ing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the periods.
Diluted earnings per share reflects the impact of dilutive
potential common shares that would have been outstanding if
common stock equivalents had been issued, as well as any
adjustment to income that would result from the assumed
issuance. Common stock equivalents that may be issued by the
Company relate solely to outstanding stock options, and the
dilutive potential common shares resulting from outstanding
stock options are determined using the treasury stock method.

Common stock equivalents outstanding-at December-31, 2002~

“and 2001 were antidilutive and consequently, not included in
the loss per common share calculation.

(k) Stock Option Plans

The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of
accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”)
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
related interpretations, in accounting for its fixed plan stock
options. As such, compensation expense is recorded only if
the current market price of the underlying stock exceeded the
exercise price on the date of grant.

(1) Stock Based Compensation

At December 31, 2003, the Company had two stock-based
employee compensation plans, which are described more fully
in Footnote 14. As permitted under SFAS No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,
which amended SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, the Company has elected to continue to follow
the intrinsic value method in accounting for its stock-based
employee compensation arrangement as defined by Account-
ing Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations
including Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock
Compensation, an interpretation of APB No. 25. The following
table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings
(loss) per common share if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based
employee compensation.
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(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) to
common shareholders

as reported

Deduct:

Total stock based employee
compensation expense
determined under fair
value-based method for
all awards (547) (265) (138)

$5,659  $(1,024) $(13,227)

Pro forma net income (loss) $5,112  $(1,289) $(13,365)

Earnings (loss) per
common share:

Basic—as reported $ 055 $(0.13) $§ (3.11)
Basic—pro forma 0.50 (0.16) (3.14)
Diluted—as reported 0.54 (0.13) (3.11)
Diluted—pro forma 0.49 (0.16) (3.14)

The weighted-average per share fair values of grants made in
2003, 2002 and 2001 were $2.13, $2.12 and $2.04, respectively.
The fair values of the options granted were estimated on the
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based
on the following weighted-average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001

Estimated option life 10 years - 10 years 10 years
Risk-free interest rate © 3.98% 4.25% 4.90%
Expected volatility 11.8% 20.4% 36.3%

Expected dividend yield . 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

(m) Reclassifications
Certain amounts for 2002 and 2001 have been reclassified to
conform to the presentation for 2003.

(3) Investment Securities and Other Investments

The fair value and amortized cost of investment securities at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are shown below.

2003
Gross Gross
_ Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
(Dollars in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises $ 6,000 $ 66 $ (37) $ 6,029
Mortgage-backed securities 113,480 304 (1,113) 112,671
Corporate bonds 10,000 — (5) 9,995
Treasury bonds 2,047 20 — 2,067
Total $131,527 $ 390 $(1,155) $130,762
Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity
Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises $ 16,992 $ 9 $ (216) $ 16,785
Mortgage-backed securities 117,860 266 (1,129) 116,997 .
Corporate bonds 8,000 — (152) 7,848
Total $142,852 $ 275 $(1,497) $141,630

%2003




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

46

2002
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(Dollars in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value
Investment Securities Available-for-Sale
Obligations of U.S. government-sponsored agencies and enterprises $ 38,787 $ 249 $ — $ 39,036
Mortgage-backed securities 115,026 2,080 (27) 117,079
Corporate bonds 5,000 —_ — 5,000
Treasury bonds 2,507 43 — 2,550

Total $161,320 $2,372 $ (27 $163,665

The fair value and amortized cost of available-for-sale securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 2003 is shown below.
Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because many issuers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or
without call or prepayment penalties.

Available-for-Sale Held-to-Maturity
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

(Dollars in thousands) Cost Value Cost Value
After 1 year but within 5 years $ 5047 $ 5083 $§ 4,000 $ 3,951
After 5 years but within 10 years 2,000 1,986 9,993 9,884
After 10 years 11,000 11,022 10,999 10,798
Mortgage-backed securities 113,480 112,671 117,860 116,997

Total $131,527 $130,762 $142,852 $141,630

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, proceeds from sales of investment securities available-for-sale amounted to
$68.9 million, $31.3 million, and $0, respectively. Gross realized gains in 2003 and 2002 amounted to $1.4 million and $544,000,
respectively. There were no realized gains during 2001. Gross realized losses during 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to $0, $20,000,
and $0, respectively.

The table below shows the Company’s investment securities’ gross unrealized losses and their fair value, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2003.

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Unrealized Loss Fair Value Unrealized Loss Fair Value Unrealized Loss
Investment Securities Available-for-sale |
Obligations of U.S. government-
sponsored agencies and entﬁrprises $ 93 . $§ (37 . % — $— $ 963 $  (37)
Mortgage-backed securities 64,283 (1,079) 1,624 (34) 65,907 (1,113)
Corporate bonds 1,995 (5) — —_ 1,995 (5)
Total temporarily impaired securities $67,241 $(1,121) $1,624 $(34) $68,865 $(1,155)
Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Unrealized Loss Fair Value Unrealized Loss Fair Value Unrealized Loss
Investment Securities Held-to-maturity
Obligations of U.S. government-
sponsored agencies and enterprises $ 9,783 $ (216) $ — $— $ 9,783 $ (216)
Mortgage-backed securities 79,881 (1,129) — — 79,881 (1,129)
Corporate bonds 5,848 (152) — — 5,848 (152)
Total temporarily impaired securities $95,512 $(1,497) $ — $— $95,512 $(1,497)
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Investment securities with unrealized losses are all investment
grade and are a result of the economic environment of 2003.
Investment securities with unrealized losses have interest rates
that are less than the current interest rate environment and not
a result of impairment. Mortgage-backed investment securities,
which reflect most of the unrealized losses in the investment
securities portfolio, are mostly comprised of bonds issued by the
Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC) and Government
National Mortgage Association (GNMA), and are supported
by pools of residential mortgage loans.

Investment securities that were pledged to secure other bor-
rowed funds at December 31, 2003 and 2002 had fair values of
$177.5 million and $20.0 million, respectively. At December 31,
2003 and 2002, investment securities that were pledged to
secure FHLB advances were $58.6 million and $0, respectively.
Investment securities that were pledged to secure repurchase
agreements at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $102.4 million,
and $0, respectively. Investment securities that were pledged to
secure debtor in possession deposit accounts and treasury, tax
and loan payments at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $5.0
million and $2.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 2003,
the Company had identified and pledged $11.5 million in
investment securities for possible future FHLB advances.

During the third quarter of 2003, we transferred $157.8 million
in available-for-sale investment securities to held-to-maturity.
The unrealized gains of $322,000 associated with these securi-
ties at the date they were transferred to held-to-maturity will
be amortized as an adjustment to the yield of the investment
securities portfolio over the remaining contractual life of the
securities. These securities are mostly pledged as collateral for
Federal Home Loan Bank advances and our customer repur-
chase agreements.

Other investments at December 31, 2003 include $1.0 million
of Federal Reserve Bank stock, $2.4 million of Federal Home
Loan Bank stock, and $63,000 of Community Bankers’ Bank
stock. As members of the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond
and Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta, the Company’s bank-
ing subsidiaries are required to hold stock in these entities.
Stock membership in Community Bankers’ Bank allows the
Company to participate in loan purchases or sales including
participations. These investments are carried at cost since no
active trading markets exist.

(4) Loans Receivable

The loan portfolio at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consists of
the following:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Commercial and industrial . $ 57,854 . $ 58,292
Real estate—commercial 139,725 © 116,135
Real estate—construction 42,243 5,781
Real estate—residential 42,495 31,808
Home equity lines 43,176 | 26,831
Consumer 10,690 | 10,235
_ 336,183 249,082
Net deferred (fees) costs (181)! 24
Loans receivable, net of fees 336,002 - 249,106
Allowance for loan losses (4,344) (3,372)
Loans receivable, net $331,658 $245,734

Most of the Company’s loans, commitments and standby let-
ters of credit have been granted to customers located in the
Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. The concentrations of
credit by type of loan are set forth above. As a matter of regu-
latory restriction, the Company’s banking subsidiary limits
the amount of credit extended to any single borrower or group
of related borrowers.

An analysis of the change in the allowance for loan losses
follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Balance, beginning of year $3,372 © $3,104 $1,900
Provision for loan losses 1,001 444 1,202
Transfer to liability on :

unfunded commitments —_— (74) —
Loans charged off (80): (117) —
Recoveries ‘ 51 15 2

Balance, end of year $4,344 $3,372  $3,104

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had impaired
loans of $390,000 and $917,000, respectively, which were on
nonaccrual status. These impairments had valuation allow-
ances of $166,000 and $480,000 as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The average balance of impaired loans was
$654,000, $568,000 and $207,000 for 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The Company recorded no interest income on
impaired loans. Interest income that would have been recorded
had these loans been performing would have been $39,000 for
2003, $37,000 for 2002 and $17,000 for 2001.
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(5) Premises and Equipment

Components of premises and equipment at December 31, 2003
and 2002 were as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Land $ 1,024 $ 197
Building 1,472+ 789
Furniture and equipment 5,322 4,304
Leasehold improvements 2,618 = 2,351
Total cost 10,436 7,641
Less accumulated depreciation :
and amortization 3,729 | 2,699

Premises and equipment, net $ 6,707 $4,942

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 was $1.0 million, $736,000 and $804,000,
respectively.

The Company has entered into leases for office space over vari-
ous terms. The leases are subject to annual increases as well as
allocations of real estate taxes and certain operating expenses.

Minimum future rental payments under the noncancelable
operating leases, as of December 31, 2003 for each of the next
five years and in the aggregate, are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

Year ending December 31 Amount
2004 $ 1,962
2005 2,050
2006 2,041
2007 2,151
2008 1,931
Thereafter 2,265

$12,400

The total rent expense was $1.9 million, $1.3 million and $1.3
million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company has entered into contracts as sublessor for excess
office space. Future minimum lease payment receivables under

noncancellable leasing arrangements as of December 31, 2003
for each of the next five years and in the aggregate, are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

Year ending December 31 Amount
2004 $ 322
2005 289
2006 274
2007 181
2008 142
Thereafter 570
$1,778

The total rent income was $453,000, $409,000 and $110,000 in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

(6) Deposits

Deposits consist of the following at December 31, 2003 and 2002:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002

Demand deposits % 70,998 © $ 72,962
Interest checking 152,656 . 146,041
Money market and statement savings 30,139 © 31,078
Certificates of deposit 220,336 . 173,398

| $474,129  $423,479

Interest expense by deposit categories is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Interest checking $2,375  $3073 $ 370

Money market and ? |
statement savings 243 577 869
Certificates of deposit 6,038 = 5714 5,788
$8,656 ' $9,364  $7,027

The aggregate amount of time deposits, each with a minimum
denomination of $100,000 was $103.6 million and $80.2 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, the scheduled maturities of certificates
of deposit are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

2004 $136,838
2005 39,685
2006 14,491
2007 16,691
2008 and thereafter 12,631

$220,336
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(7) Other Borrowed Funds

The Company has fixed rate advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (FHLB) of $44.0 million at December 31, 2003.
These advances mature through 2008 and have interest rates ranging from 1.31% to 2.81%. At December 31, 2002, the Company had
$2.0 million in advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta with maturities through 2003 and interest rates ranging from
1.96% to 3.70%.

The Company has a floating rate advance from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta of $5.0 million at December 31, 2003, which
matures in 2004. The floating rate is based on the three month London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR). At December 31, 2003, the
interest rate on the floating rate advance was 1.23%. The Company had no floating rate advances at December 31, 2002.

The contractual maturities of the fixed and floating rate advances are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) At December 31, 2603

Interest Term of Date Amount
Type of Advance Rate Advance Due Outstanding
Fixed Rate Credit 1.31% 5 months Jan-04 $ 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.63 12 months Jan-04 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.72 12 months Jan-04 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.36 6 months Feb-04 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.54 12 months Mar-04 1,000
Fixed Rate Credit . 1.65 12 months Mar-04 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.81 18 months Jul-04 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.96 18 months Jul-04 2,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.77 18 months Sep-04 1,000
Fixed Rate Credit " 1.86 18 months Sep-04 1,000
Adjustable Rate Credit - 1.23 12 months Dec-04 5,000
Fixed Rate Credit 1.82 24 months Mar-05 1,000
Fixed Rate Credit 2.33 36 months Mar-06 1,000
Fixed Rate Credit . 2,07 36 months Jul-06 6,250
Fixed Rate Credit - 2.81 48 months Mar-07 1,000
Fixed Rate Credit 2.63 48 months Jul-07 6,250
Principal Reducing Fixed Rate Credit 2.29 60 months Jul-08 11,458
Total advances from FHLB . 1.98% $48,958

At December 31,2002

Interest Term of Date Amount
Type of Advance Rate Advance Due Outstanding
Fixed Rate Credit 1.96% 6 months Apr-03 $1,000
Fixed Rate Credit 3.70 24 months Sep-03 1,000
Total advances from FHLB 2.83% $2,000

The average balances of FHLB advances for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $33.5 million and $5.6
million, respectively. The maximum amount outstanding at
any month-end during the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 was $56.8 million and $9.8 million, respectively.
Total interest expense on FHLB advances for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $654,000, $222,000,
and $448,000, respectively.

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, which are clas-
sified as secured borrowings, generally mature within one
to four days from the transaction date. Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase are reflected at the amount of cash
received in connection with the transaction. The Company is
required to provide additional collateral based on the fair value
of the underlying securities.
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At December 31, 2003 and 2002 the Company had repurchase
agreements of $25.5 million and $0, respectively. The interest
rate of the repurchase agreements at December 31, 2003 was
0.75%. The average balances of the repurchase agreements for
2003 and 2002 were $9.2 million and $0, respectively, and the
maximum amount outstanding at any month-end during 2003
and 2002 were $26.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively.
Interest expense on repurchase agreements for 2003; 2002 and
2001 was $72,000, $0, $25,000, respectively.

Occasionally, the Company purchases fed funds. At December 31,
2003 and 2002, the Company had no outstanding purchases in
fed funds. Interest expense related to fed funds purchased as of
December 31, 2003 was $47,000. There was no interest expense
as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.

(8) Preferred Stock

In connection with the acquisition of Heritage Bancorp, Inc.
on September 1, 2000, the Company issued 1,411,268 shares
of 7.25% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A.
Shares of the Preferred Stock outstanding at December 31,
2003 and 2002 were 1,364,062 and 1,364,684, respectively. The
Series A Preferred Stock has a par value of $1.00 per share and
a liquidation preference of $5.00 per share. It is automatically
converted into the Company’s common stock if the common
stock trades at a price above $8.65 for 20 consecutive trading
days beginning at anytime on or after March 1, 2004. Divi-
dends on the Series A Preferred Stock are payable quarterly for
a cumulative annual dividend of $0.3625 or 7.25% of the $5.00
liquidation amount, before any dividend is paid on any
Cardinal common stock. Holders of Series A Preferred Stock
have the right to convert one share of Series A Preferred Stock
for 0.75 shares of Cardinal common stock at any time. Holders
of Series A Preferred Stock are not entitled to receive notice of,
or to participate in, or to vote on any matter at any meeting of
the shareholders, except to- the extent that they are afforded a
vote by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia in existence
at the time any matter requiring such a vote shall arise. Not-
withstanding the lack of voting rights, under Sections 13.1-707
and 708 of the Virginia Stock Corporation Act, the holders of
the Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to notice of any
meeting of the shareholders considering an amendment to our
Articles of Incorporation relating to any of the matters
described in Section 13.1-708 of the Virginia Stock Corporation
Act and to vote as a class.

(9) Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries file consolidated tax returns
on a calendar-year basis. The Company recorded an income tax
benefit of $3.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2003

and had no provision for current and deferred income taxes for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,

The provision for income tax expense (benefit) is reconciled to
the amount computed by applying the federal corporate tax
rate to income before taxes and is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Income tax expense (benefit) T
at federal corporate rate $ 900 . $(180) $(4,326)
Nondeductible expenses 7 7 2,998
Change in valuation allowance (4,415) 173 1,328
'$(3,508) $ — $ —

The tax benefits of temporary differences between the financial
reporting basis and income tax basis of assets and liabilities
relate to the following:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:
Bad debts © $1,391 $ 1,047
Organization and other costs : — 19
Net operating loss carryforwards 3,606 4,401
Unrealized (gains) losses on ‘
investment securities j
available-for-sale 260 (797)
Other 126 | 157
Total gross deferred assets 5,383 4,827
Less valuation allowance (668) (4,553)
Net deferred tax assets 4,715 274
Deferred tax liabilities: ;
Prepaid expenses (51) | (19)
Depreciation (121) (134)
Loan origination costs (70) (121)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities : -(242) .- (274)
Net deferred tax asset C$4,473 0§ —

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax
effects of differing carrying values of assets and liabilities for
tax and financial statement purposes that will reverse in future
periods. When substantial uncertainty exists concerning the
recoverability of a deferred tax asset, the carrying value of
the asset is reduced by a valuation allowance. A valuation
allowance in the amount of $668,000 at December 31, 2003
has been established for deferred tax assets. This valuation
allowance relates primarily to the state portion of the net
operating losses for the Parent Company and Cardinal Wealth
Services, Inc. as realization is dependent upon generating future
taxable income within those entities.
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The Company has net operating loss carryforwards of $9.2
million at December 31, 2003, which are available to offset tax
payments on future taxable income. The Company’s net
operating loss carryforwards expire as follows: $1.4 million in
2019, $5.1 million in 2020, and $2.7 million in 2021.

(10) Regulatory Matters

The Company’s banking subsidiary, Cardinal Bank, N.A. (the
“Bank”), as a national bank, is subject to the dividend restric-
tions established by the Comptroller of the Currency. Under
such restrictions, the Bank may not, without the prior approval
of the Comptroller of the Currency, declare dividends in excess
of the sum of the current year’s earnings (as defined) plus the
retained earnings (as defined) from the prior two years. At
December 31, 2003, there were no earnings against which divi-
dends could be paid.

The Bank is required to maintain a minimum average reserve
balance with the Federal Reserve Bank. The average amount of
the required reserve was $1.9 million for 2003. As members
of the Federal Reserve Bank system, the Bank is required to
subscribe to shares of $100 par value Federal Reserve Bank

stock equal to 6 percent of the Bank’s capital and surplus. The
Bank is required to pay for one-half of the subscription. The
remaining amount is subject to call when deemed necessary by
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act
of 1991 (“FDICIA”) requires the regulators to stratify institu-
tions into five quality tiers based upon their relative capital
strengths and to increase progressively the degree of regulation
over the weaker institutions, limits the pass through deposit
insurance treatment of certain types of accounts, adopts a
“truth in savings” program, calls for the adoption of risk-based
premiums on deposit insurance and requires the Bank to
observe insider credit underwriting products no less strict than
those applied to comparable noninsider transactions.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company and the Bank
met all regulatory capital requirements. The key measures of
capital are: (1) total capital (Tier I capital plus the allowance
for loan losses up to certain limitations) as a percent of total
risk-weighted assets, (2) Tier I capital (as defined) as a percent
of total risk-weighted assets (as defined), and (3) Tier I capital
(as defined) as a percent of total assets (as defined).

To Be Well
Capitalized Under
For Capital Prompt Corrective
At December 31, 2003 Actual Adequacy Purposes  Action Provisions
(Dollars in thousands) Amount  Ratio Amount Ratio Amount  Ratio
Total capital to risk-weighted assets $90,239 20.66% $34,951> 8.00% $43,688 = 10.00%
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets - 85896 19.66% 17,4752 4.00% 26,2132 6.00%
Tier I capital to average assets 85,896 15.45% 23,3652 4.00% 29,2062  5.00%
To Be Well
Capitalized Under
For Capital Prompt Corrective
At December 31, 2002 Actual Adequacy Purposes  Action Provisions
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Total capital to risk-weighted assets $41,093 13.35%  $24,625= 8.00%  $30,781 = 10.00%
Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets 37,721  12.25% 12,3132 4.00% 18,469 >  6.00%
Tier I capital to average assets 37,721 8.97% 18,330 2  4.00% 15,3912 5.00%
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(11) Related-Party Transactions

Officers, directors, employees and their related business interests are loan customers in the ordinary course of business. In management’s
opinion, these loans are made on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for
comparable loans with other persons and do not involve more than normal risk of collectibility or present other unfavorable features.

Analysis of activity for loans to related parties is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Balance, beginning of year - $4,752  $2,727
New loans 2,242 ¢ 2,177
Loans paid off or paid down (2,503) °  (152)
Balance, end of year $ 4,491  $4,752

(12) Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The following is the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share. Because the Company had net losses in
2002 and 2001, outstanding stock options had an anti-dilutive effect and, therefore, were excluded from the loss per common share
calculation for those years.

At December 31, 2003, the dilutive potential common shares resulting from outstanding stock options added to the weighted-
average shares for the diluted earnings per common share calculation were 227,000. At December 31, 2003, 9,000 outstanding stock
options were excluded from the weighted-average shares outstanding for the diluted earnings per share calculation as these stock
options have exercise prices that were greater than the average market price of the Company’s common stock for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

(Dollars and shares in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss) $ 6,154 $ (529) $(12,724)
Dividends to preferred shareholders 495 495 503
Net income (loss) to common shareholders j $ 5,659 : $(1,024) $(13,227)
Weighted-average shares for basic 10,218 7,949 4,258
Weighted-average shares for diluted 10,445 - 7,949 4,258
Basic earnings (loss) per common share - $ 055 $(013) 3§ (3.11)
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ 054 $(013) $ (3.11)

(13) Employee Benefit Plan (14) Director and Employee Stock

The Company established a 401(k) plan in January 1998 for all Compensation Plans

eligible employees. The Company began to match a portion of
employee contributions beginning January 1, 1999. The
Company’s match for December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was
$106,000, $102,000, and $118,000, respectively.

In 1998, the Company adopted a stock option plan (the “Plan”)
pursuant to which the Company may grant stock options to
employees and members of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’
Boards of Directors. 625,000 options to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock are authorized under this plan as of
December 31, 2003.

In 1999, the Company granted stock awards to an employee.
These awards became fully vested in 2001. For the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized
$0, $0, and $6,000, respectively, in compensation expense
related to the stock awards.
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During 2002, the shareholders approved the Company’s 2002
Equity Compensation Plan (the “Equity Plan”). The Equity Plan
authorizes the granting of options, which may either be incen-
tive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock apprecia-
tion rights, restricted stock awards, phantom stock awards and
performance share awards to directors, eligible officers and key
employees of the Company. The Equity Plan authorizes the
issuance of options and other equity instruments equivalent to
700,000 shares of the outstanding shares of common stock plus
shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the
Company’s outstanding Series A Preferred Stock.

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the
stock’s fair market-value at the date of grant. Director stock
options have 10-year terms and vest and become fully exercisable
immediately. Certain employee stock options have 10-year terms
and vest and become fully exercisable after three years. Other
employee stock options have 10-year terms and vest and become
fully exercisable in 20% increments beginning as of the grant
date. Stock options granted to new employees of the Company
have 10-year terms and vest and become fully exercisable in
20% increments beginning after their first year of vesting.

Stock option activity during the years indicated is as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Number  Exercise
of Shares Price
Balance at December 31, 2000 325,212 $5.74
Granted 130,740 4.07
Exercised (2,809) 3.75
Forfeited (85,115) 5.77
Expired ‘ — —
Balance at December 31, 2001 368,028 $5.23
Granted 265,530 3.27
Exercised — —
Forfeited (90,665) 5.48
Expired — —
Balance at December 31, 2002 542,893 $4.22
Granted 376,000 5.07
Exercised (32,523) 4.44
Forfeited (38,933) 4,90
Expired — —

Balance at December 31, 2003 847,437 $4.22

Information pertaining to stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

December 31, 2003

Options Qutstanding

Options Exercisable

Range of Number Remaining Weighted-Average Number  Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding  Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$2.41-$3.56 305,999 7.8 years $3.27 163,455 $3.36
‘ $3.95-$5.50 415,241 8.8 years 4.86 128,211 4.83
$6.38-$7.25 126,197 6.1 years 6.79 103,447 6.77
Outstanding at year end 847,437 8.0 years $4.57 395,113 $4.73
December 31, 2002
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Range of Number Remaining Weighted-Average Number  Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding  Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 2.41-% 3.56 333,365 8.4 years $ 3.27 143,585 . $ 3.29
$ 3.95-% 5.50 103,690 7.9 years 4.68 30,211 4.22
$ 6.38-% 7.00 105,088 6.4 years 6.77 105,088 6.77
$10.00-$10.00 750 5.9 years 10.00 750 10.00
Outstanding at year end 542,893 8.0 years $ 4.22 279,634 $ 471

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, additional shares available for grant under both stock option plans were 477,563 and 72,039,

respectively.
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(15) Segment Reporting

The Company operates and reports in two business segments, commercial banking and investment advisory services. The com-
mercial banking segment includes both commercial and consumer lending and provides customers such products as commercial
loans, real estate loans, and other business financing and consumer loans. In addition, this segment also provides customers
with several choices of deposit products including demand deposit accounts, savings accounts and certificates of deposit. The
investment advisory services segment provides advisory services to businesses and individuals including financial planning and

retirement/estate planning.

Information about reportable segments, and reconciliation of such information to the consolidated financial statements as of and for
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 follows:

December 31, 2003
Commercial Investment Intersegment
(Dollars in thousands) Banking Advisory Other Elimination Consolidated
Net interest income $ 15,077 $ — $ 96 $ — $ 15,173
Provision for loan losses 1,001 — — — 1,001
Non-interest income 2,954 843 32 _— 3,829
Non-interest expense 13,265 820 1,270 —_ 15,355
Income tax benefit (464) (443) (2,601) — (3,508) .
Net income $ 4,229 $ 466 $ 1,459 $ — $ 6,154
Total assets $630,415 $ 776 $85,960 $(80,903) $636,248
December 31, 2002
Commercial Investment Intersegment
(Dollars in thousands) Banking Advisory Other Elimination Consolidated
Net interest income $ 10,575 $ — $ 81 $ — $ 10,656
Provision for loan losses 444 — — — 444
Non-interest income 1,848 942 74 — 2,864
Non-interest expense 11,995 1,147 463 — 13,605
Net loss $ (16) $ (205) $ (308) $ — $  (529)
Total assets $483,135 $ 274 $41,159 $(38,245) $486,323
December 3'1, 2001
Commercial Investment Intersegment
(Dollars in thousands) Banking Advisory Other Elimination Consolidated
Net interest income $ 9,051 $§ — $ 26 3 — $ 9,077
Provision for loan losses 1,202 —_ — — 1,202
Non-interest income 1,167 1,947 43 — 3,157
Non-interest expense 19,177 2,034 2,545 — 23,756
Net loss $(10,161) $ (87) $(2,476) $ — $(12,724)
Total assets $277,930 $ 420 $23,228 $(21,994) $279,584

The Company does not have operating segments other than those reported. Parent Company financial information is included in the
Other category and represents the overhead function rather than an operating segment.
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(16) Financial Instruments with Off Balance
Sheet Risk

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-
balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the
financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments
include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of
credit and financial guarantees. Commitments to extend credit
are agreements to lend to a customer so long as there is no
violation of any condition established in the contract. Com-
mitments usually have fixed expiration dates up to one year or
other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.
Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without
being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not nec-
essarily represent future cash requirements.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued
by the Company to guarantee the performance of the contrac-
tual obligations by a customer to a third party. The majority of
these guarantees extend until satisfactory completion of the
customer’s contractual obligations. All standby letters of credit
outstanding at December 31, 2003 are collateralized.

Those instruments represent obligations of the Company to
extend credit or guarantee borrowings; and therefore, are not
recorded on the consolidated statements of financial condition.
The rates and terms of these instruments are competitive with
others in the market in which the Company operates. Almost
all of these instruments as of December 31, 2003 have floating
rates, thereby significantly mitigating the market risk.

Those instruments may involve, to varying degrees, elements of
credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized
in the consolidated statements of financial condition. Credit
risk is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss because the
other parties to a financial instrument fail to perform in
accordance with the terms of the contract. The Company’s
maximum exposure to credit loss under standby letters of
credit and commitments to extend credit is represented by the
contractual amounts of those instruments.

(Dollars in thousands)
Financial instruments whose
contract amounts represent

potential credit risk: 2003 2002
Commitments to extend credit $111,182  $66,767
Standby letters of credit 3,330 1,610

The Company had recorded no liability associated with standby
letters of credit at December 31, 2003 as such amounts were
immaterial.

The Company uses the same credit policies in making commit-
ments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-
sheet instruments. The Company evaluates each customer’s
creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis and requires collateral
to support financial instruments when deemed necessary. The
amount of collateral obtained upon extension of credit is based
on management’s evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral held
varies but may include deposits held by the Company, mar-
ketable securities, accounts receivable, inventory, property, plant
and equipment, and income-producing commercial properties.

(17) Disclosures of Fair Value of
Financial Instruments

The assumptions used and the estimates disclosed represent
management’s best judgment of appropriate valuation meth-
ods. These estimates are based on pertinent information avail-
able to management at the valuation date. In certain cases, fair
values are not subject to precise quantification or verification
and may change as economic and market factors and manage-
ment’s evaluation of those factors change.

Although management uses its best judgment in estimating the
fair value of these financial instruments, there are inherent lim-
itations in any estimation technique. Therefore, these fair value
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the
Company would realize in a market transaction. Because of the
wide range of valuation techniques and the numerous esti-
mates which must be made, it may be difficult to make reason-
able comparisons of the Company’s fair value information to
that of other financial institutions. It is important that the
many uncertainties discussed above be considered when using
the estimated fair value disclosures and that, because of these
uncertainties, the aggregate fair value amount should in no
way be construed as representative of the underlying value of
the Company.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following summarizes the significant methodologies and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values presented in the
accompanying table.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents is used as a
reasonable estimate of fair value.
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Investment Securities and Other Investments

Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted mar-
ket prices or prices quoted for similar financial instruments.
Fair value for other investments is estimated at their cost since
no active trading markets exist.

Loans Receivable, Net

In order to determine the fair market value for loans receivable,
the loan portfolio was segmented based on loan type, credit
quality and maturities. For certain variable rate loans with no
significant credit concerns and frequent repricings, estimated
fair values are based on current carrying amounts. The fair
values of other loans are estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses, using interest rates currently being offered for loans
with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality.

Deposits

The fair values disclosed for demand deposits are, by defini-
tion, equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting
date (that is, their carrying amounts). The carrying amounts
of variable rate, fixed-term money market accounts and cer-
tificates of deposit (CDs) approximate their fair value at the
reporting date. Fair values for fixed-rate CDs are estimated
using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest
rates currently being offered on CDs to a schedule of aggre-
gated expected monthly maturities on time deposits.

Other Borrowed Funds

The fair value of other borrowed funds is estimated using a
discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates
currently available with similar terms.

Commitments

The fair value of these financial instruments is based on the
credit quality and relationship, fees, interest rates, probability
of funding, compensating balance and other covenants or
requirements. These commitments generally have fixed expira-
tion dates expiring within one year. Many commitments are
expected to, and typically do, expire without being drawn
upon. The rates and terms of these instruments are competitive
with others in the market in which the Company operates. The
carrying amounts are reasonable estimates of the fair value of
these financial instruments. The carrying amounts of these
instruments are zero at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Accrued Interest
The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate their
fair values.

Fair value of financial instruments as of December 31, 2003
and 2002:
December 31, 2003

Carrying  Estimated
(Dollars in thousands) Amount  Fair Value
Financial assets: ,
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,083 $ 13,083
Investment securities and
other investments 277,131 275,909
Loans receivable, net 331,658 327,087
Accrued interest receivable 2,082 2,082
Financial liabilities: : ‘
Demand deposits " $ 70,998  $ 70,998
Interest checking 152,656 152,656
Money market and statement
savings 30,139 30,139
Certificates of deposit 220,336 227,871
Other borrowed funds 74,457 73,967 .
Accrued interest payable 164 164
December 31, 2002
Carrying  Estimated
" {Dollars in thousands) Amount  Fair Value
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 63,371 $ 63,371
Investment securities and
other investments 165,280 165,280
Loans receivable, net 245,734 257,480
Accrued interest receivable 1,523 1,523
Financial liabilities:
Demand deposits $ 72,962 $ 72,962
Interest checking 146,041 146,041
Money market and statement
savings 31,078 31,078
Certificates of deposit 173,398 178,360
Other borrowed funds 2,000 2,000
Accrued interest payable 107 107
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(18) Parent Company Only PARENT COMPANY ONLY
Financial Statements ’ CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
The Cardinal Financial Corporation (Parent Company only) Years ended December 31 : 2003 2002 2001
condensed financial statements are as follows: (Dollars in thousands)
Income: ‘
:ARE:ET CC:;AP:NYMONI..:; Interest income $ 96 % 81 $ 26
ONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CONDITION Other income 32 - 74 43
December 31 : 2003 : 2002 Total income ; 128 155 69
(DOHLZTS in thousands) ' : Expense_General and
Assets : ’ administrative 1,270 | 463 2,545
Cash a.nd cash equivalents $45,516 © $ 5,989 Net loss before income :
Other investments 63 63 .
. e ‘ taxes and equity in
Investment in subsidiaries 35,318 32,472 . .
Premi d ) ¢ net 1552 825 undistributed earnings ‘
remises anc equipment, ne B o of subsidiaries (L142). (308)  (2,476)
Goodwill ‘ 22 646 !
Oth . 3489 164 Income tax benefit (2,601) — —
ther assets ’ : Equity in undistributed ‘

Total assets $85,960 $41,159 earnings of subsidiaries 4,695  (221) (10,248)
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity Net income (loss) $ 6,154 $(529) $(12,724)
Total liabilities % 548 3 447
Total shareholders’ equity $85,412  $40,712

Total liabilities and

shareholders’ equity - $85,960 - $41,159
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PARENT COMPANY ONLY CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31 2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in thousands) v |
Cash flows from operating activities: , !
Net income (loss) - $ 6,154 $ (529) $(12,724)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) i ,
operating activities: 1 i
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries - (4,695) 221 10,248

Depreciation and amortization of goodwill . 261 238 865
(Increase) decrease in other assets, liabilities and goodwill C(2,600) (2,413) 1,754
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ‘ (880)  (2,483) 143
Cash flows from investing activities: :
Capital infusions in subsidiaries © (1,000): (12,275) (720)
Net change in premises and equipment it 161 158
Proceeds from sale of other investments 1 — 4 17
Net cash used in investing activities : (989) | (12,110) (545)
Cash flows from financing activities: ,
Proceeds from rights and secondary offerings 41,747 18,493 —
Dividends declared on preferred stock (495) (495) (503)
Stock options exercised 144 — 11
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . 41,396 17,998 (492)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,527 3,405 (894)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,989 2,584 3,478
Cash and cash equivalents at end of vear $45516 © $ 5989 $ 2,584

(19) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In 2001, the Company substantially eliminated the goodwill attributable from the acquisition of Heritage Bancorp, Inc. The initial
investment in Heritage, which was subsequently, renamed Cardinal Bank—Potomac, resulted in the Company recording $9.7 million
of goodwill at the time of the acquisition. In the fourth quarter of 2001, an evaluation of 2001 losses and expectations of additional
future losses indicated a potential impairment in the Company’s investment in Heritage. In compliance with SFAS No. 121, the
Company wrote down goodwill by $8.3 million based upon a valuation obtained from an independent third party consultant. In 2003,
the Company recognized the benefit of net operating loss carryforwards arising from the Heritage acquisition, and accordingly, this
tax benefit of $624,000 was utilized to reduce the Heritage goodwill. Goodwill at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $22,000 and
$646,000, respectively.
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The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 as of January 1, 2002, and, therefore, discontinued the amortization of goodwill on January 1,
2002. The Company has evaluated impairment of goodwill under SFAS No. 142. The evaluation of goodwill under this statement did
not result in impairment of the Company’s goodwill as of the annual evaluation date. Information on the Company’s intangible
assets is contained in the table below.

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
(Dollars in thousands) Carrying Value Amortization Carrying Value Amortization
Amortizable core deposit intangible $102 $(102) : $102 $(102)
Unamortizable goodwill ' 22 — 646 —

Core Deposit
Amortization expense: Intangible

Twelve months ended December 31, 2003 —

Twelve months ended December 31, 2002 22

December 31
2003 2002 2001
$5,659 ' $(1,024) $(13,227)

Reported net income (loss) to common shareholders

Add: goodwill amortization — — 8,847
Adjusted net income (loss) . 5,659 1 (1,024) (4,380)
Reported basic earnings (loss) per common share $0.55 $(0.13) $ (3.11)
Add: goodwill amortization per common share ‘ — — 2.08
Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per common share $ 055 $(013) $ (1.03)
Reported diluted earnings (loss) per common share '$054 . %(0.13) $ (3.11)
Add: goodwill amortization per common share ; — — 2.08
Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per common share P $ 054 % (0.13) $ (1.03)

At December 31, 2002, the Company’s core deposit intangible was fully amortized thus; there is no more amortization expense after
December 31, 2002.

(20) Other Operating Expenses

The following shows the composition of operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Data processing $ 835 % 759 $ 957
Stationery and supplies © 387 ¢ 317 306
Brokerage clearing 186 206 370
Advertising and marketing 913 541 368
Telecommunications 396 . 276 325
Other taxes - 456 342 269
Travel and entertainment 148 127 164
Bank operations C 569 0 411 875
Premises and equipment © 351 271 247
Miscellaneous 686 239 465
Total other operating expenses | $4,927 | $3,489  $4,346
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Common and Preferred Stock

Our Common Stock under the symbol “CFNL” and our 7.25% Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A under the symbol “CFNLP” are currently listed
for quotation on the Nosdaq National Market. As of February 27, 2004, we have
4,096 holders of our Common Stock and 1,058 holders of our Series A Preferred
Stock.

Quarterly Common Stock Prices
Market Price

High ($) Low ($)

2003

dhQuarter . .. ... 8.60 6.40
ArdQuarter. . .. .. 7.08 6.10
2nd Quarter .. ... 7.01 5.13
TstQuarter .. .. 5.45 4.30
2002

4hQuarter . ... 4.50 4.01
ArdQuarter. . ... 4.95 4.02
2nd Quarter .. ... 4.86 3.85
IstQuarter ... ... 6.50 3.60

Financial Information

To obtain financial information on Cardinal Financial Corporation, contact
Domingo Rodriguez, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at
703-584-3400, or visit our website www.cardinalbank.com. The Annual
Report, Form 10K, and other corporate publications are availoble on request
by writing to our Corporate Headquarters at 8270 Greensboro Drive,
Suite 500, Mclean, VA 22102.

Investment Services

Cardinal Wealth Services, Inc.™
8270 Greensboro Drive, Suite 100
Mclean, VA 22102
703-584-3470

Annual Meeting

The 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on Wednesday, April 21,
2004 at 10:00 a.m. at the Hyatt Fair Lakes, 12777 Fair Lakes Circle, Fairfax,
Virginia.
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